
Cabinet

Wednesday 23 February 2022 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

Item Discussion Portfolio

1 Apologies 

To note any apologies for absence.

Leader of Council

2 Minutes (Pages 1 - 12)

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 26 January 2022 
(minutes attached).

Leader of Council

3 Declarations of Interest 

To  declare any pecuniary or personal interests relating to specific 
matters on the agenda.

Please see information note (1) at the end of the agenda

Leader of Council

4 Questions at Cabinet Meetings 

Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item.

Written questions 

To answer any written questions from a County Councillor, (or any 
person living or working in the county, or is affected by the work of the 
County Council), about any matter which relates to any item on the 
agenda for this meeting. 

The closing date for the receipt of written questions is 4.00 pm on 
Thursday  17 February 2022.

Please submit any questions to 
stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

A written answer will be provided for each written question received (to 

mailto:stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk


23 February 2022

be presented to the questioner and to Cabinet (in advance of the 
meeting). The questions and answers will be taken as read and will not 
be read out at the meeting. At the discretion of the Leader of Council, 
each questioner ( in attendance at the meeting) will be allowed to ask 
one supplementary question (in response to the answer given to the 
original question). 

A copy of all written questions and written answers circulated at the 
meeting will be attached to the signed copy of the minutes of the 
meeting.

Urgent questions

An urgent written question may be asked by a member of the public 
about any item on the Cabinet agenda for that meeting which the 
Chairperson considers could not have been reasonably submitted by the 
deadline for the receipt of written questions, provided he or she gives 
notice of the question to the Chief Executive by 12 noon the day before 
the meeting.

Key Decisions

5 Financial Montoring Report 2021/22 (Pages 13 - 28) Finance and 
Change

6 The recommissioning of Children and Family Centres as the 
starting point for the development of Family Hubs across 
Gloucestershire for children aged 0-19 years (up to 25 years 
where children have special educational needs or disabilities). 
(Pages 29 - 44)

Children’s 
Safeguarding and 
Early Years

7 Local Welfare Provision 2022-2024 Contract Extension (Pages 
45 - 50)

Children’s 
Safeguarding and 
Early Years

8 Health and Social Care Independent Advocacy Services for 
Adults, Children and Young People (Pages 51 - 68)

Children’s 
Safeguarding and 
Early Years

Adult Social Care 
Commissioning

Adult Social Care 
Delivery



23 February 2022

9 Gloucestershire’s Holiday Activity and Food Programme 
(Pages 69 - 84)

Children’s 
Safeguarding and 
Early Years

]Cabinet
Cllr Stephen Davies, Cllr David Gray, Cllr Philip Robinson, Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE, 
Cllr Carole Allaway-Martin, Cllr Tim Harman, Cllr David Norman MBE, Cllr Vernon Smith, 
Cllr Lynden Stowe and Cllr Kathy Williams

NOTES
1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to 

make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Director of Policy, Performance and 
Governance ( 01452 328506 e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the 
meeting.

2. INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or reports 
relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the meeting, please 
contact: Stephen Bace, Lead Democratic Services Adviser :01452 324204/e-mail: 
stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk

3. DEFINITION OF A KEY DECISION - A ‘Key Decision’ is one that is, if implemented, is likely to
 Result in significant additional expenditure or savings to the value of £500,000 or more, or
 Be significant in terms of its effect on communities in two or more electoral divisions.

4.

5. 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS - Members are required to sign the attendance list.

PHOTOGRAPHY, FILMING AND AUDIO RECORDING OF COUNCIL MEETINGS is permitted 
subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions. Please contact Democratic 
Services (01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements ahead of the meeting. If you are 
a member of the public and do not wish to be photographed or filmed please inform the 
Democratic Services Officer on duty at the meeting.  

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please 
leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point located outside the 
main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further 
instructions.

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET

26 January 2022

Gloucestershire
County
Council

Minutes

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE - Leader of Council
Cllr Lynden Stowe – Deputy Leader & Cabinet Member for Finance and Change
Cllr Stephen Davies – Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years
Cllr Carole Allaway Martin – Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Commissioning
Cllr Dave Norman – Cabinet Member for Public Protection, Parking and Libraries
Cllr Phil Robinson – Cabinet Member for Economy, Education and Skills
Cllr Tim Harman – Cabinet Member for Public Health and Communities
Cllr Vernon Smith – Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood
Cllr Kathy Williams – Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Delivery
Cllr David Gray – Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning 

-

Apologies:

1. Apologies 

See above.

2. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting on 22 December 2021 were agreed as a correct record.

3. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations were made at the meeting.

4. Questions at Cabinet Meetings 

A total of 4 public questions were asked at the meeting.

A total of 17 member questions were asked at the meeting.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 1 -

The following supplementary questions were asked:

Question 1 – Cllr Ben Evans asked, regarding costs of high end services, did the 
council think it was a mistake to dismantle the youth service in 2010?

Cllr Stephen Davies replied that this was an important piece of work that was being 
carried out. The Cabinet Member was on the scrutiny task group and outlined that 
buildings were not the solution. The whole strategy was designed to change that.

Question 2 – Cllr Ben Evans asked, did the cabinet member have an idea on what 
needed to be done and what capital spend was required?

Cllr Stephen Davies would get back to the member once the figures were available.

Question 4 – Cllr Ben Evans asked what thought was being given to IT solutions 
around management of information to ensure coherent reporting of outcomes and 
outputs of services.

Cllr Stephen Davies agreed the interface was important and he would get back to 
the member on the details.

Question 5 – Cllr Ben Evans asked how many young people aged 10-19 were in 
Gloucester? 

Cllr Stephen Davies stated that he did not have the number to hand and could 
provide it, but Cllr Evans answered that he already had the figures.

Question 6 -  Cllr Ben Evans asked, regarding the preventative element in lots 2-4, 
did the member feel the number of youth workers seemed low? He asked could the 
Cabinet Member describe how the council understood preventative services and 
what high end difficulties they would look to prevent.

Cllr Stephen Davies replied with the example of there being young people that were 
not yet known to the Council requiring help and the work needed to be developed to 
take this into account. He was aware of the different levels of need across young 
people in Gloucestershire.

Question 12 – Cllr John Bloxsom asked whether there would be adequate funding 
for our market towns with regards to Youth Services.

Cllr Stephen Davies would provide the member with the way in which the funding 
would be disseminated.

Question 13 –Cllr John Bloxsom asked if a faith organisation was successful would 
they be able to sub contract out the provision of services related to sexual health.

Cllr Stephen Davies confirmed that they could commission out to another provider.

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

5 Urgent questions were asked prior to the meeting:

Urgent Question 1 - Cllr Paul Hodgkinson asked, did the Leader worry that the Council 
Strategy consultation simply posed motherhood and apple pie questions, which the 
majority were inevitably going to agree with?  What learnings had this Cabinet taken from 
this exercise, other than the ability (legitimate or otherwise) to claim to have majority 
support for its proposals?

In response Cllr Mark Hawthorne stated that the priorities within the Council Strategy were 
based on the priorities set out in the manifesto in May, which had received strong support 
on the doorstep.  The engagement on the Council Strategy allowed the Council to test that 
those priorities remained the right ones, as well as giving residents the opportunity to 
comment on anything else they considered to be important.  He made no apologies for the 
fact that the priorities being proposed received widespread support.   

Cllr Paul Hodgkinson asked a supplementary question on how much that consultation had 
cost the tax payer.

Cllr Mark Hawthorne replied he did not have the information to hand but it was a statutory 
responsibility to consult. It was an important part of the agenda pack for Cabinet as well as 
for Council. He would come back to the member with details of the costs.

Urgent Question 2 - Cllr Paul Hodgkinson asked, did the Leader accept that limiting 
answers on the Council Strategy to “strongly agree, agree, disagree or strongly disagree” 
was limiting and gave little room for respondents to offer caveated opinions?  

Cllr Mark Hawthorne replied that he did not accept this and that the Council Strategy and 
budget consultation were designed to run alongside and complement each other, and as 
the report showed, there were plenty of opportunities for free text comments to be made.  
This provided a mixture of qualitative and quantitative feedback.

Cllr Paul Hodgkinson asked a supplementary question on what changes had been made as 
a result of the feedback from the consultation.

Cllr Mark Hawthorne replied that there were a number of areas that had changed, primarily 
as a result of consultation with members. 

Urgent Question 3 - Cllr Paul Hodgkinson asked why the questions to businesses on the 
Building Back Better survey substantially different to those put to residents?
 
Cllr Mark Hawthorne replied that this was in order to ensure that the questions were as 
relevant as possible to the intended audience.  Many of the questions asked of residents 
were less relevant to local businesses, though, of course, there was nothing to stop local 
business-owners from responding as local residents.  

Urgent Question 4 -  Cllr Paul Hodgkinson asked that on page 11 of the report, it was 
stated that stakeholders were asked to comment on “funding for 26 miles of cycle-track 
from Stroud to Bishop’s Cleeve.”  What specific questions were asked on this claim?

Cllr Mark Hawthorne replied that this was amongst a raft of proposals relating to the 
Economy, Environment and Infrastructure budget on which residents were invited to 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

comment.  The question was - Would you like to give us any feedback on the priorities in 
question 1 or on any specific areas you feel we should be spending the money on, which 
aren’t already listed? 

Cllr Paul Hodgkinson asked a supplementary question asking where it  was explained to 
residents that the route was not fully funded?

Cllr Mark Hawthorne referred the member to the answer to the public question which 
outlined a firm commitment to funding the scheme.

 
Urgent Question 5 - Cllr Paul Hodgkinson asked, of the 230 comments received on 
question 2, and the 192 comments received on question 4, what further analysis of the 
feedback was undertaken beyond simply categorising the feedback into themes?  I.e. of 
the 141 comments received on “more investment into climate change” on question 2, what 
proportion were supportive of the level of investment being proposed, what proportion 
believed you weren’t investing enough etc? 

Cllr Mark Hawthorne replied that all the comments were supportive of more investment into 
climate change. Five comments received stated that too much money was spent on climate 
change.

Cllr Paul Hodgkinson asked a supplementary question on whether people in 
Gloucestershire felt that more should be spent on climate change? He asked whether Cllr 
Gray should do more to support this.

Cllr Mark Hawthorne replied that of the comments received about investment into climate 
change, 5 had stated that too much money was spent on climate change. The rest 
supported additional investment.

5. Council Strategy and Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 - 2025/26 

Cllr Mark Hawthorne and Cllr Lynden Stowe asked Cabinet to recommend the 
MTFS, Council Strategy, 2022/23 budget and Precept to Council.

Cllr Lynden Stowe outlined that the MTFS document (Appendix 2) covered a four 
year period but focussed on the financial investment in services needed in 2022/23 
to deliver the objectives of the Council Strategy. 

The draft budget for 2022/23 outlined how the council proposed to spend £520 
million – an increase of over £37 million from the current year. Thanks to a good 
financial settlement from central government this additional investment could be 
delivered with only a 1.99% Council Tax increase plus an additional 1% Adult 
Social Care Precept. This amounted to less than 81p per week for a Band D 
household. This would ensure that GCC continued to have one of the lowest 
Council Tax levels when compared to other County Councils.

The draft budget proposed significant investment in key areas;
- Over £13 million extra investment in Adult Services
- An additional £14 million for Children Services
- A £2 million investment in our Fire and Rescue Service

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

- An additional £2m permanently allocated to Highways Local projects and 
Pothole repairs

- Creation of a £1 million pa Climate Emergency Fund. 
- An additional £8 million invested in Environment and Infrastructure

In addition, the MTFS detailed a further £142 million of new capital investment – 
which meant that the Council now had a capital programme of £996 million – almost 
a billion pounds.

It was emphasised that much of the spend was focussed on addressing Climate 
Change and it was embedded throughout the budget. 

Members were alerted to the Equality Impact Assessment which accompanied the 
report and the budget and strategy consultation report.

Cllr Phil Awford, Chair of Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee thanked the 
Cabinet members for engaging with scrutiny during this process and for attending 
the meeting on 6 January 2022. He also thanked all scrutiny members for their 
comments and input to make the meeting a real success.  Scrutiny’s feedback had 
resulted in the following changes to the strategy:

 
 Making clear that the commitment to Highways includes a new policy on road 

safety

 Emphasising that the Council’s ambition for investment extends beyond the 
STEP fusion project to other opportunities including Cyber Central.

 Clarifying the commitment to growing green jobs and skills

  Underlining the fact that the strategy will deliver equally for rural and urban 
areas.

The Leader thanked Scrutiny for their comments and noted that the strategy had 
been amended to incorporate that. It was noted that the Fire and Rescue Service 
budget was considered separately by the Fire Scrutiny Committee.

Cllr Mark Hawthorne introduced the Council Strategy that set out the priorities and 
ambitions for the Council and the County.  It was a key document that would 
determine where the Council put its resources and focussed its efforts over the next 
four years.   In particular it set out how the Council would deliver the commitments it 
had made. 

Building Back Better in Gloucestershire explained the council’s vision and priorities 
for 2022 – 2026, focusing on a greener, healthier, more prosperous Gloucestershire 
for everyone.  The priorities were:

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

 Tackling climate change through a series of ambitious yet practical 
initiatives that would show the Council’s commitment to reducing the 
Council’s carbon footprint to net zero by 2030, and making it easier for local 
businesses and residents to make greener choices, including by providing 
better public transport and electric vehicle infrastructure

 Improving the resilience of our roads – a further investment of £100m into 
road resurfacing over the lifetime of the strategy, and a more proactive 
approach to repairing potholes 

 Delivering sustainable growth – this strategy would make sure that 
Gloucestershire took an infrastructure-led approach

 Levelling up our communities – Part of building back better was 
recognising that there was an opportunity to level up those parts of the 
County that have been left behind.  Look to meet new challenges.

 Securing investment for Gloucestershire – Our strategy would make sure 
that Gloucestershire attracts inward investment from Central Government 
and businesses.

 The strategy continued the Council’s commitment to Transforming 
Children's Services, Adult Social Care, and Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service to make sure they were efficient, effective and meet the 
needs and future challenges of a growing population.

 The strategy committed the Council to Improving the experience offered 
to customers 

Cabinet member spoke about how the budget and strategy met the needs of 
residents in relation to their services.

The focus of investment in the GFRS would be on management and support to 
those staff on call. Extra staff would be put in place to support recruitment and 
development of operational and non operational areas for ensure additional 
resilience.  In addition the capital budget included provision for upgrading vehicles.

Cabinet Members noted the significant investment into children services that would 
transform the approach going forward.

It was explained that early intervention and prevention in adult social care was a 
focus. It was acknowledged that the service had face challenges over the pandemic 
and Cllr Williams thanked staff for their work during the period. Members noted the 
demographic changes placing pressures on the service over the next four years. 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

The strategic ambition was to support people to live independently through 
transforming services and using technological advancements alongside the benefits 
of the integrated care system. 

In relation to highways, Cabinet Members welcomed the £100m investment to build 
back better. In addition the Highways Local had been increased within the base 
budget. 

Cabinet were informed of some of the specific investments in relation to the capital 
spend on schools, including new schools and expansion schemes.

Cllr Stowe thanked the officers for their work in helping to develop the budget.

Having considered all of the information. Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

1. Consider the outcome of the budget consultation as set out in Appendix 3
and the report from the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee (COSC)
in Appendix 4.

2. Approve the Council Strategy 2022-2026 - Building Back Better in 
Gloucestershire for recommendation to County Council (Appendix 1).

3. Approve changes to the draft budget and to approve the MTFS and final revenue 
and capital budget for 2022/23 for recommendation to County Council, including all 
of the proposals set out in the annexes of the detailed MTFS (Appendix 2).

4. Note the schools funding allocations, the provisional local government finance 
settlement and forecast reserve movements as summarised in this report and set 
out in the MTFS.

5. Recommend to Council a revenue budget of £520.268 million, a band D council 
tax of £1,451.36 and consequential precepts on District Councils.

6. Note the Capital Strategy and Treasury Management Strategy & Investment 
Strategy as set out in Annexes 7 & 10 of the detailed MTFS.

7. Approve the Risk Management Policy Statement & Strategy 2022-25 as set out 
in Annex 11 of the detailed MTFS for recommendation to County Council.

6. Financial Monitoring Report 2021/22 

Cllr Lynden Stowe provided an update on the year-end forecast for the 2021/22 
County Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets

The forecast revenue year end position based on December 2021 (Period 9) 
forecasts for the 2021/22 financial year was an overspend of £1.937 million all of 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

which is non Covid-19 related. A balanced position was forecast in relation to 
Covid-19 expenditure and income.

The largest non-Covid-19 budget variance was the £8.608 million forecast 
overspend in Children and Families – this overspend was partially offset by the 
£6.533 million underspend in Technical & Countywide. 

Having considered all of the information. Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

1. Note the forecast revenue year end position based on December 2021
(Period 9) forecasts for the 2021/22 financial year is an overspend of
£1.937 million all of which relates to non-Covid-19 expenditure, as we are
forecasting a balanced position in relation to Covid-19 expenditure and
income.

2. Note the forecast capital year end position as at the end of November
2021 of £137.147 million against the current budget of £153.294 million.

3. Approve the £450k increase to the capital programme as outlined in
Section B.

7. Work Smarter Digital Phase 2: Re-procurement of the Enterprise Support 
Service Contract 

Cllr Lynden Stowe sought Cabinet approval to award a contract in relation to the 
supply of Enterprise Support Services.

A new Digital and ICT service was launched in April 2021. The new service model included 
a mixed framework of internally provisioned services and external outsourcing to third 
parties. The current outsourced Enterprise Support Service (ESS) contract was provided 
by Cantium Business Solutions Ltd. 

The County Council’s current Enterprise Support Services (ESS) contract would come to 
an end in March 2022. It was critical to commence the new contract at the time of expiry.

Direct award was appropriate in this instance as there was a clear understanding of the 
services GCC required from the ESS contract provider. The Council had been pleased with 
the work carried out by Cantium.

This would provide an opportunity to consider the emerging service requirements and 
value for money in delivering the County’s digital aspirations. It would consider new 
practices and the maturing service following the launch of the new Digital and ICT service 
in April 2021.

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

Having considered all of the information. Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

1. Approve, without further competition, the award of a call-off contract for the 
supply of Enterprise Support Services under Crown Commercial Services 
Framework RM6100 – Technology Services 3, to the preferred tenderer, namely, 
Cantium Business Solution Limited in accordance with the direct award criteria 
thereunder. The proposed call-off contract shall make provision for the supply of 
Enterprise Support Services to both the council and Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service to the extent that the Fire Service’s requirements have been 
agreed in advance with the council. Such call-off contract shall continue for an initial 
period of two years and include options to extend its term for a further period of one 
year on each of its second, third and fourth anniversaries.

2. Delegate authority to the Director of People and Digital Services in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Finance and Change to determine whether to exercise 
each of the options to extend the term of such call-off contract on its second, third 
and fourth anniversaries.

8. Recommissioning of Youth Support Services in 2022 

Cllr Stephen Davies sought Cabinet permission to procure a new contract or 
contracts for integrated Youth Support Services, in order to discharge the Council’s 
statutory and partnership responsibilities towards young people aged 10 to 24 
years, following the end of the current Youth Support contract on 30t September 
2022.

The Council’s Youth Support contract with Prospects Services was due for review 
and retender in 2021. However due to the pandemic, Members agreed to extend 
the contract until September 2022.

The report now presented to Members detailed the proposals for a full 
reconfiguration and retender of the Youth Support Service, enabling the Council to 
discharge its statutory and partnership duties towards Gloucestershire young 
people aged 10-24 years. 

The value of the contract was £4.716M per annum, scheduled to reoccur for an 
initial term of 5 years, with the potential to extend the contract for 2 additional years, 
totalling £33.012M over 7 years. 

The Council commissioned extensive research into the evolving needs of 
Gloucestershire young people, including supporting The Scrutiny Task Group on 
Youth Engagement with its research brief and commissioning a range of 
independent reports and modelling of best practice, all of which had assisted to 
inform the key proposals set out in the Cabinet paper.  

Having considered all of the information. Cabinet noted the report and

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

RESOLVED to:

Delegate authority to the Assistant Director for Integrated Children and Families 
Commissioning, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Children’s 
Safeguarding and Early Years, to:

1. Conduct a competitive procurement process in respect of the following four lots 
for the provision of Youth Support Services across Gloucestershire County Council, 
in order to discharge the Council’s statutory and partnership responsibilities towards 
young people aged 10-24 years, following the end of the current Youth Support 
contract on the 30th of September 2022:

a) Lot 1: Provision of Universal Services, delivering statutory core Youth Support 
Services from a centralised location including Youth Justice Service / Health and 
Mental Wellbeing / IAG/Youth Homelessness / NEET / Missing, alongside targeted 
countywide outreach, youth training and support.

b) Lot 2: Provision of Youth Support Services in Gloucester and the Forest of Dean;

c) Lot 3: Provision of Youth Support Services in Stroud and the Cotswolds;

d) Lot 4: Provision of Youth Support Services in Cheltenham; and Tewkesbury;

Such lots may be awarded to the same tenderer under a single contract or awarded 
to a number of separate tenderers under not more than four separate contracts, 
whose term(s) shall continue for an initial period of five years and include options to 
extend their terms for a further period of two additional years.

2. Award such contract or (as appropriate) contracts to the preferred tenderer(s); 
and

3. Determine whether to exercise the option to extend such contract(s) for a further 
period of two years on the fifth anniversary.

9. School Admission Arrangements for 2023/24 Academic Year 

Cllr Philip Robinson sought Cabinet approval in order to determine the following 
school admission arrangements for 2023/24 academic year:

 The Co-ordinated Admissions Schemes for all schools and academies
 The Admission Arrangements for Community & Voluntary Controlled Schools
 The Protocol for pupil admittance over Published Admission Number for
 Community & Voluntary Controlled Schools and Service Personnel. 

School admissions were an important part of the council’s work; there needed to be 
a transparent, consistent system that parents and carers can have confidence in. 

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

The Government regulates admissions through its statutory School Admissions 
Code 2021.

The council must determine the admission arrangements for entry to community 
and voluntary controlled schools in the following academic year, every year. The 
2023 admission arrangements were almost unchanged from previous years. As 
there were no significant changes to the proposed admission arrangements for 
2023/2024 and therefore full public consultation was not required by law. It was 
recommended that Cabinet approve the proposed admission arrangements which 
have previously been subject to consultation.

The council also had to prepare a co-ordinated admissions scheme for all 
maintained schools and academies so that parents only need to apply once – this 
included applications for infant/ primary schools for the reception year, transfer from 
infant to junior school and secondary schools at year 7.  

Having considered all of the information. Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

Approve the School Co-ordination and Admission Arrangements as set out in the 
documents referred to below:

Appendix 1 The Co-ordinated Admissions Scheme for 2023 for all 
Primary/Infant/Junior/Secondary Schools and Academies

Appendix 2 The Admissions Arrangements for Community and Voluntary 
Controlled Primary/Infant/Junior Schools and Secondary School for 2023 (Including 
Published Admission Numbers)

Appendix 3 Protocol for pupil admittance over published admission number for 
Community and Voluntary Controlled Schools for 2023

Appendix 4 School Admissions guidance for children of UK service personnel and 
crown servants for Community and Voluntary Controlled Schools

Leader of Council

Meeting concluded at 11:15

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TITLE: Financial Monitoring Report 2021/22

Cabinet Date 23rd February 2022

Cabinet Member Cllr Lynden Stowe, Cabinet Member for Finance and Change 

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To provide an update on the year-end forecast for the 2021/22 County 
Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets

Recommendations

That the Cabinet:

1. Notes the forecast revenue year end position based on January 2022 
(Period 10) forecasts for the 2021/22 financial year is an overspend of 
£946k all of which relates to non-Covid-19 expenditure, as we are 
forecasting a balanced position in relation to Covid-19 expenditure and 
income.  

2. Notes delivery of the £5.717 million of savings against a target of £6.761 
million in 2021/22 or 84.6% of target. 

3. Notes the forecast capital year end position as at the end of December 
2021 of £137.910 million against the current budget of £153.404 million.

4. Approves the £1.041 million increase to the capital programme as 
outlined in Section C. 

Reasons for 
recommendations To ensure that Councillors and the public are made aware of the Council’s 

current financial position.
Resource 
Implications

These are detailed within the report

Background 
Documents

MTFS Report to 12th February 2021 County Council and Financial Monitoring 
Report to Cabinet 21st July 2021, 22nd September 2021 10th November 2021 
22nd December 2021 & 26th January 2022

Statutory Authority

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

County Wide

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



Officer Paul Blacker, Director of Finance (01452) 328999 
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
Jayne Fuller, Corporate Finance Manager (01452) 328926

jayne.fuller@gloucestershire.gov.uk
Timeline Not applicable

Page 14

mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jayne.fuller@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Revenue Expenditure 2021/22

A. Revenue Forecast Outturn Position 2021/22

1. The current forecast of the year end revenue position against the revenue budget of 
£483.008 million, based on forecasts in January 2022 (Period 10) is an overspend of 
£946k after utilising grants for Covid-19 expenditure. 

2. The largest non-Covid-19 variance is the £8.893 million forecast overspend in 
Children and Families – this overspend is partially offset by the £6.525 million 
underspend in Technical & Countywide. 

3. The Council’s forecast cost of the Covid-19 pandemic (excluding expenditure funded 
from specific grants) is estimated to be £22.472 million in 2021/22 which is funded by 
£11.526 million 2021/22 Covid-19 Emergency Grant and carry forward from 2020/21 
of £10.946 million Emergency Grant. A balanced position is therefore forecast for 
Covid-19 related activity.   

4. In addition to the £22.472 million of general Covid-19 grant funding detailed above, 
the Council has also received specific Covid-19 related grant funding. The specific 
grant allocations for 2021/22 total £30.905 million with an additional £16.632 million 
carried forward from 2020/21. Details are in the table below; -

Page 15



Other Covid -19 Related Grant Analysis

Forecast 
spend 
21/22        
£m

Carry 
forward 
for 22/23     

£m

Grants to be 
paid back 

£m

Received 
for 21/22 

£m

Brought 
forward 

21/22     
£m

Infection Control Grant  7.620 7.620
Department of Health & Social Care Workforce Recruitment 
and retention 4.875 4.875

Department for health and Social Care-Rapid Testing 4.605 4.605

Department for health and Social Care-Omicron Support 0.632 0.632

Test & Trace 0.751 -0.675 1.426

Covid-19 Bus Service Support Grant 0.180 0.180

H2ST DFE grant 0.373 -0.203 0.237 0.339

DHSC -Contain Outbreak Management fund 10.354 -6.019 3.036 13.337

Department for Work & Pensions -  Covid Winter Grant Scheme 0.524 0.524

Department for Work & Pensions -  Covid Local Support Grant 1.396 1.396
MHCLG Clinically Extremely Vulnerable (CEV) people
Tranches 1-4 .  1.435 0.205 1.230

Community Testing 0.792 0.792 0.000

Holiday & Activities Fund 20/21 2.035 2.035 0.000

DWP - Household Support Grant 3.692 3.692 0.000

Practical support payment 1-6 1.376 1.255 0.121

Other Covid -19 related grant 40.640 -6.694 -0.203 30.905 16.632

5. The following additional grant allocations have been confirmed since the previous 
Cabinet Report

 Department for Health & Social Care Community Testing net increase £32k
 Department of Health & Social Care Workforce Recruitment and Retention 

£3.162m
 Department of Health & Social Care Omicron Support £632k
 Department for Health & Social Care Practical Support payments £379k

6. The assumption in this report is that relevant expenditure will be limited to the value 
of these specific grants – any underspend will either need to be returned or carried 
forward to be spent in accordance with the grant conditions in future years.

7. An analysis of the current forecast position is provided in the table and narrative 
below. 

Page 16



Directorate Breakdown for Cabinet Report - Position January Forecasts 2021 (P10)

Variance

Revised 
2021/22 
Budget

%
Forecast 
excluding 
Covid-19

£000 £000 £000 % £000 £000

Adults 155,751 156,983 1,232 0.79% 2,326 -1,094 

Prevention & Wellbeing 35,113 34,843 -270 -0.77% 12 -282 

Children & Families 125,985 145,156 19,171 15.22% 10,278 8,893 

Economy, Environment & Infrastructure 76,158 78,640 2,482 3.26% 2,482 0 

Community Safety 19,997 20,104 107 0.54% 110 -3 

Corporate Resources 36,903 44,083 7,180 19.46% 7,224 -44 

Total for Services 449,907 479,809 29,902 6.65% 22,432 7,470 

Technical & Countywide 33,101 26,617 -6,484 -19.59% 40 -6,524 

Total 483,008 506,426 23,418 4.85% 22,472 946 

Additional Funding Covid-19 including 
carry forward to be allocated 22,472 0 -22,472 -22,472 

Revised Total 505,480 506,426 946 0.20% 0 946 

Service Area

Forecast 
Outturn 
Position

Forecast 
Outturn 
Variance

Covid-19 
Forecast

Page 17



Adult Social Care 

8. Adult Social Care is reporting an underlying overspend of £1.232 million which 
includes £2.326 million for the COVID-19 costs.  Excluding the COVID-19 costs ASC 
are reporting an underspend of £1.094 million.  The underspend relates to the 
increasing pressures of recruiting and retaining staff across Adult Social Care teams. 
The underlying vacancy position is significant and is creating a one-off underspend 
position in 2021/22. The service has identified funding for a recruitment campaign to 
fill posts ahead of the significant changes the Social Care Reform will require. 

9. Adult Social Care reserves currently stand at £9.484 million. The reserves continue 
to be held as Vulnerable Adults Reserve at £5.430 million, with £4.054 million carry 
forwards from 2020/21 anticipated to be used in 2022/23, primarily due to delays 
caused by COVID-19.

10.There continues to be a number of significant risks that are ongoing which mainly 
relate to: COVID-19, S117 backdated payments with £428k being paid to date, 
responding to winter pressures, as well as the Adult Single Programme (ASP).

11.The forecast cost of the COVID-19 response for 2021/22 within Adults is made up of:
 £1.115 million of additional support to care providers
 £0.137 million miscellaneous spend across a range of budgets
 £1.074 million ASP savings at risk

£2.326 million funded by General COVID-19 Grant

 17.733 million of: Infection Control Fund; Rapid Testing and Vaccine 
Grant; Workforce Recruitment and Retention Grant; Omicron Support  

12.LD External Care is projecting a £2.331 million underspend. The £2.331 million relates 
to £696k of underlying underspends and a further £1.635 million of MTFS funding 
which is not expected to be used during 2021/22 because of delays relating to COVID-
19. Although this funding is not needed in this financial year it is incorporated in the 
full position for the Transforming Care Programme and is therefore needed in next 
financial year.

13.Older People (OP) and Physical Disabilities (PD) is reporting a £6.601 million 
overspend.  The overspend is split across individual service budgets with OP showing 
as £3.481 million and PD £3.120 million. The current overspend relates mainly to the 
brought forward underlying financial position, voids relating to homes run by a major 
provider, increased cover for bad debts, additional demand and winter pressures, and 
support to the external market.

14.The Mental Health position is a £1.205 million overspend as calculated by the 
Gloucestershire Health and Care NHST Finance Team. A long-term plan is being 

Page 18



developed with Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Trust to address the underlying 
overspend.

15.Community Equipment and Telecare is reporting an underspend of £1.069 million. 
The Community Equipment Service (CES) pooled Budget is reported as a breakeven.  
The pooled Disabled Facilities Grant budget is forecasting an underspend of £821k. 
Telecare is reporting a £248k underspend due to delays in progressing the move from 
an analogue to a digital service, now anticipated to be a cost in 2022/23.

16.Other Services comprise of all staffing budgets for Adult Social Care, as well as 
several specific commissioned contracts. The position for these services nets to a 
£3.766 million underspend, including these significant variances of:

 £411k overspend in Commissioning EIO due to additional beds.

 £4.177 million of underspends including: £541k Care Act due to delayed 
projects/recruitment; £324k Safeguarding due to vacancies; £259k 
Gloucestershire Integrated Brokerage due to vacancies; £347k OP Hub due 
to vacancies; £1.616 million OP/PD Integrated Social Care Management 
(ISCM) largely due to vacancies; £580k LD Assessment, Support Planning & 
Management mainly due to vacancies; £357k In-House Provision (LD) due to 
vacancies; and £153k underspend made up of other smaller variances. 

17.Unallocated Budget is reported as £552k underspent though this is being used to 
cover some of the overspend in External Care

Prevention and Wellbeing 

18.Services within this area include Public Health, Supporting People and a number of 
smaller budgets covering the prevention hub team and grants. In total Prevention 
Services are £270k under-spent but this includes £12k of Covid-19 general 
expenditure. 

19. In total Covid-19 grants either carried forward or allocated in year to the Council total 
£20.005 million. The funding will be targeted at continuing the containment and 
management of the outbreak through testing and tracing, supporting vulnerable 
groups and communities. Of the total funding available, £6.694 million is committed 
in 2022/23.

20.The underlying non-Covid-19 position for Prevention and Well Being is a £2.014 
million under-spend. Public Health services are funded by a ring-fenced grant, which 
if unspent is required to be carried forward in a specific reserve. The Public Health 
(PH) position, excluding Covid-19 expenditure, is forecast to be £1.732 million under-
spent and this will be transferred to the PH reserve at year end. Therefore, the 

Page 19



forecast non-Covid-19 underspend net of the transfer to the PH Reserve is £282k 
relating to prevention hub activities and supporting people contracts.

21.The in-year forecast for Public Health is an under-spend of £1.732 million due to lower 
take-up for health checks as fewer people are currently accessing the service, 
dispensing costs for substance misuse, activity against the substance misuse and 
healthy lifestyles contracts (both affected by COVID) and the cost of staff involved 
with the COVID response being charged to grants instead of the Public Health grant. 
The estimated cost for Agenda for Change pay awards (£199k) in 2021/22 is offset 
by these under-spends.

Children & Families

22.The current forecast for the year end revenue position as at January 2022 for non-
DSG funded services is an over-spend of £19.171 million (15.22% of budget). 
Included within these figures is the forecast additional cost of the impact of Covid-19 
on budgets which totals £10.278 million giving an underlying over-spend of £8.893 
million. The significant over-spend continues to be against the external placements 
budget due to increasing numbers of children in care partly linked to the pandemic 
but also the number and cost of placements. Social care staffing, disability services 
and home to school transport are also over-spending. 

23.Additional forecast expenditure for the impact of Covid-19 covers three key areas 
which are external placement costs including the additional cost of accommodation 
for care leavers, cost of social care staff and support to vulnerable pupils. A significant 
part of this forecast includes the continuing impact on social care and education 
services even though lockdown measures have eased. Covid-19 grants totalling £8 
million are forecast to be spent including the Winter Grant, Local Support Grant, 
Holiday Activities Fund and Household Support Fund. 

24.Activity levels within social care continue to cause significant budgetary pressures on 
children’s services and in particular against external placements resulting in the over-
spend. At the end of December 2021 children in care numbers were 843 compared 
to 754 at the end of April 2020. Gloucestershire’s number and rate of children in care 
is above statistical neighbours but remains below the England average.

25.The current forecast over-spend against the external placement budget is £15.219 
million (48.9% above budget) and includes a contingency of £0.8 million for new cases 
in-year to allow for additional placements to replace existing care commitments or for 
higher number of placements due to increased activity. The forecast also includes the 
current and future impact of Covid-19 on placement numbers which totals £8.144 
million resulting in an underlying over-spend of £7.075 million. The underlying over-
spend is due to the number of residential, fostering and supported living placements 
and also the cost of complex residential placements. The current forecast average 

Page 20



unit cost of a placement is £115,500 per annum, (residential/supported living average 
unit cost of £183,400) and of the net variance, £5 million relates to activity and £2 
million to price. There are currently 486 external placements, of which 119 are 
residential and 139 supported living placements. 

26.To address this position the strategy is to bring the child in care population more in 
line with statistical neighbours over the coming years.  This will involve a range of 
measures, aimed to impact on both numbers and associated costs, including  
 further developing our edge of care offer to support children at home and to 

prevent their escalation and entry into care;
 increasing the number and proportion of children placed with in-house foster care;
 continuing to develop our own placement provision with providers to exert a 

greater influence on the market and control costs;
 continuing to develop our permanence planning to reduce drift and delay and 

ensure children can leave our care in a timely manner by achieving permanence 
or reunification as appropriate.

27.Against safeguarding staffing budgets there is a forecast over-spend of £1.249 million 
(6.6% above budget) with an underlying position net of COVID of £644k. Effective 
management of the workforce, improved processes for recruitment, more effective 
advertising and the support and training provided by the social work academy should 
address the current cost pressure. Turnover of staff is rising and has been between 
17% and 22.4% over the last six months and at the end of December there were 106 
agency workers in post. 

28.Home to School transport is reported as £803k overspent and is due to the number 
and cost of the transport for SEN pupils, due to procuring new routes and the number 
of solo journeys required.

29.Services for children with disabilities are forecasting to over-spend by £1.339 million 
due to the increased cost of care packages, including s.76 contracts with Health, and 
disability service staffing costs.

30. In-house fostering and adoption services are under-spent by £685k due to activity at 
the start of the year being below budgeted assumptions. 

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) position

31.Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) funded services are forecast to be over-spent by 
£19.711 million in 2021/22, which includes the deficit carry forward of £13.67 million 
and the current year deficit budget for High Needs of £4.093 million including 

Page 21



adjustments between Local Authorities. The deficit budget results from setting 
realistic budgets within high needs services considering growth trends and existing 
activity demands on special school and independent provision and top up budgets. 
High needs top-up budgets for colleges, special schools, primary and secondary 
schools are forecasting a £2.52 million overspend due to increased demand.

32.Gloucestershire’s high needs block, like most LAs nationally is currently in deficit. The 
increase in the allocated funding for 2022/23 of £6.968 million and a further £2.989 
million Supplementary Grant will be required to meet forecast demand pressures for 
additional special school places and support to mainstream schools. The LA and 
Schools Forum are looking at proposals on how to resolve this deficit, and initiatives 
to tackle need more effectively and reduce costs in the long run. A financial recovery 
plan is being developed alongside this review. 

Economy, Environment & Infrastructure

33.Economy, Environment and Infrastructure are currently forecasting an overspend 
position of £2.482 million (3.3% of the budget).  This is all down to the impact of Covid-
19 related costs or loss of income as set out in the paragraphs below.

34.Loss of income is forecasted to be £1.262 million which is split between £206k from 
Registrations and Libraries, £1.000 million from parking related income and £56k from 
other income.

35.Covid-19 costs are forecasted to be £1.220 million made up of £188k for the 
Economic Recovery Strategy, £15k for PPE and social distancing related spend, 
£792k for additional Covid related expenses against Highways, £150k of other spend 
across the directorate on a range of issues and £75k of unachievable savings relating 
to Libraries. 

36.The above outturn forecast position assumes that the Highways Local RCCO 
(Revenue Contribution to Capital Outlay) of £327k within the capital section of this 
report is approved.

Community Safety Directorate

37.The Community Safety Directorate is forecasting an overspend of £107k (0.5% of 
budget). Estimated costs attributed to Covid-19 amount to £110k so excluding 

Page 22



these, a minor underspend of £3k is forecast. This position assumes full use of the 
£181k On-call training reserve.

Corporate Resources

38.Corporate Resources are forecasting an overspend of £7.180 million (19.46% of the 
budget). Included within these figures is the forecast additional cost of the impact of 
COVID-19 on budgets which totals £7.224 million giving an underlying underspend of 
£44k.

39.The additional forecast expenditure of £7.224 million for the impact of Covid-19 
incudes £194k in the Asset Management & Property Services budgets, £85k against 
Occupational Health, £83k Information Management Service, £40K in Policy & 
Performance, £1.294 million Legal costs and 180k in the Directorate budget, together 
with a contingency allocation of £5.314 million which is available to support known 
Covid-19 related commitments in 2022/23.

Technical and Countywide

40.The forecast outturn position for Technical and Countywide budgets is a £6.484 
million underspend, included within these figures is a £40k additional cost of the 
impact of Covid-19. The main areas of variance are highlighted in the paragraphs 
below.

41.Positive interest rate credits on cash balances are forecast to produce a £1.050 million 
under spend during the year. This is lower than previous years as a result of lower 
interest rates introduced to mitigate the economic impact of Covid-19. 

42.The 2021/22 budget includes a savings contingency. This was approved by Council 
to reflect the high-risk nature of some of the savings programmes in demand led areas 
in 2021/22. £1.229 million is being used to support the overall budget position for 
2021/22. 

43.The 2021/22 budget includes a Pay & Price provision to fund unexpected price 
increases during the financial year, £1.200 million is being released to support the 
overall budget position for 2021/22. 

44.There is a forecast underspend on the corporate Insurance budget totalling £425k 
based on trend analysis of insurance premiums.

45.An underspend of £1.685 million within the Capital Financing Budget is now forecast 
following reductions in projected capital financing costs due to slippage on approved 
capital schemes.

Page 23



46.Other County Council Contingencies are currently reporting underspends mainly  the 
LGPS Employers Contributions Contingency. 

B. Delivery of Savings Programme

47.  At the end of Quarter 3, £5.717 million savings are forecast to have been delivered 
against a target of £6.761 million. This represents 84.56% of the annual target 
achieved.

48.  A total of £1.044 million is forecast to be at risk of being delivered by the end of 
2021/22, which would represent 15.44% of the annual target. The most significant 
elements at risk being £870k reablement savings and £111k income target across 
Economy, Environment & Infrastructure.

C. Capital Expenditure 

Current Spend 2021/22

49.The current capital budget for 2021/22 is £153.404 million. Actual spend against the 
capital programme as at the end of December 2021 (period 9) is £85.288 million.

Budget and Forecast Outturn Position 2021/22

50.The forecast outturn position for 2021/22 is £137.910 million, against the budget of 
£153.404 million, giving a forecast in-year slippage of £15.494 million.

Page 24



Service Area

Reprofiled
Budget
2021/22

Current
Year

Spend
2021/22

% Current
Year

Spend
Against

Reprofiled
Budget

Forecast
Outturn
2021/22

Forecast
Year-end
Variance

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Capital Receipts Works Before Sale 0 0 0 0
Adults 9,017 4,452 49 8,772 -245
Childrens Services

Schools 40,926 27,845 68 37,707 -3,219
Non-Schools 468 114 24 419 -49

Economy, Environment & Infrastructure
Highways 63,913 44,009 69 65,343 1,430
Strategic Infrastructure 4,809 373 8 3,243 -1,566
Waste Disposal 608 117 19 417 -190
Libraries 417 163 39 329 -88

Community Safety
Fire and Rescue Service 736 567 77 630 -106
Trading Standards 39 0 0 0 -39

Corporate Services
AMPS 10,221 5,744 56 10,259 38
ICT Projects 8,436 1,616 19 8,134 -301
Business Service Centre 227 82 36 227 0
Archives & Information Management 113 19 16 113 0
Digital Innovation (Customer) 974 186 19 316 -658
Investing In Self Funded Income Schemes 12,500 0 0 2,000 -10,500

Total 153,404 85,288 56 137,910 -15,494

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 2021/22

Children’s Services Capital Programme 2021/22

Schools

51.The Schools Capital Programme is forecasting slippage of £3.219 million against the 
realigned 2021/22 budget. This is mainly due the new Bishops Cleeve Primary School 
project where further detailed survey and design work was required to finalise the 
submission of the planning application.

Economy, Environment and Infrastructure Capital Programme 2021/22

Highways

52.The Highway Capital Programme is forecasting an in year overspend of £1.430 million 
against the realigned 2021/22 budget. Funding is already in the overall approved 
capital programme but is currently profiled to be spent in future years so there is no 
impact on long term capital programme. £250k relates to additional schemes within 
the Carriageway Resurfacing Programme and £104k has been allocated to carry out 
emergency replacement of a failed set of traffic signals and a crossing. The additional 

Page 25



£1.076 million forecast relates to the WCTIS (West Cheltenham Transport 
Improvement Scheme) programme where additional works were needed to ensure 
that the scheme complies with the latest LTN 1/20 cycle design standards (these 
standards were not available at time of tender to detail design). A contingency 
provision was made in future years to cover these additional costs therefore this is an 
in year overspend only.

Strategic Infrastructure

53.The Strategic Infrastructure Programme is forecasting slippage of £1.566 million 
against the realigned 2021/22 budget. £1.510m of this relates to Broadband and is 
linked to delays from contracts awarded as part of the Fastershire delivery 
programme.  The remaining £66k is made up of £115k slippage on Flood Alleviation 
schemes which is due to change in focus of certain schemes and delays in project 
milestones by multiple factors including Covid restrictions and £59k advance spend 
against the Multi Modal Transport Model 

Corporate Services Capital Programme 2021/22

ICT

54.The ICT Capital Programme is forecasting slippage of £301k against the current budget.
 £250k relates to the Children & Families ICT Systems Rationalisation now being push 

out to 2022/23 & 2023/24.
 £131k slippage on Desktop due to procurement delays.
 £80k earlier than anticipated spend on data storage hardware.

Digital Innovation (Customer)

55.The Digital Innovation (Customer) Capital Programme is forecasting slippage of £658k 
against the current budget.  This relates to the Business Analytics procurement being 
delayed.

Investing in Self-Funded Income Schemes

56.The Investing in Self-Funded Income Scheme is forecasting to spend £2 million 2021/22. 
£10.5m slippage on the scheme will be carried forward to for investment in self-funded 
income schemes in the future.

Other Services Capital Programmes

57.All other services are forecast to spend within £250k of the current budgets.

Page 26



Changes to the Capital Programme in 2021/22 and future years

Adults

58. It is proposed that Cabinet approves a decrease of £250k in the Adults Capital 
Programme to reflect the transfer of Department of Health Housing and Technology 
Grant from the Transitions for Life project to the Rowan Tree House refurbishment 
project in the Children’s Services Capital Programme.

Children’s Services

59. It is proposed that Cabinet approves an increase of £552k in the Children’s Services 
capital budget for the Rowan Tree House refurbishment project, funded as follows:

 £250k budget transfer from the Adults Capital Programme (Dept of Health 
Housing and Technology Grant),

 £250k contribution from the Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group,
 £52k revenue contribution from the Transforming Care Programme revenue 

budget.

Highways

60. It is proposed that Cabinet approves an increase of £327k in the Highways capital 
budget funded by a contribution from the Highways Locals revenue budget. This 
transfer from revenue to capital is standard practice and reflects the fact that members 
have chosen to fund schemes that are of a capital nature. The funding will be used to 
finance approximately 50 minor works schemes made up of £223k of paver/patching 
works, £73k against footways, £13k for drainage improvements, £15k for dropped 
kerbs and £3k of other smaller works.

Libraries

61. It is proposed that Cabinet approves an increase of £224k in the Libraries capital 
budget funded by a developer contributions as summarised below:
•   £150k towards the Bishops Cleeve Library refurbishment project.
•   £26k towards the Tetbury Library project to increase customer access to stock, 
updated furniture, digital equipment and upgraded facilities.
•   £11k towards the Bourton Library project to provide additional stock.
•   £25k towards improvements at Fairford Library to increase customer access to 
library facilities.
•   £12k towards improvements at Wotton under Edge library to enhance customer 
access to services. 

Page 27



AMPS

62. It is proposed that Cabinet support an increase of £188k in the AMPS Capital 
Programme budget from revenue contributions towards the cost of the Quayside 
Health Hub.

 £83k from Badham’s Pharmacy
 £80k from Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)
 £25k from G Doc

Overall

63.As a result of the above changes, the overall capital programme will increase by 
£1.041 million. 

Page 28



1

REPORT TITLE: The recommissioning of Children and Family Centres as the starting point 
for the development of Family Hubs across Gloucestershire for children aged 0-19 years 
(up to 25 years where children have special educational needs or disabilities)

Cabinet Date 23rd February 2022

Cabinet Member Cllr Stephen Davies - Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding 
and Early Years

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To seek Cabinet permission to invite tenders for new contracts for Children 
and Family Centres from 1st April 2023 as a starting point in the 
development of the Family Hub model for children 0-19 (0-25 for SEND) 
across Gloucestershire. 
This procurement will allow us to focus on developing an agreed multi-
agency vision and principles for Family Hubs, starting with a focus on 0-11 
with a view to incremental (age and stage) transition that is aligned with the 
wider transformation within children’s services and partner agencies. 

Recommendations     

1. That Cabinet delegates authority to the Assistant Director for 
Integrated Children and Families Commissioning, in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years, to:

a) Conduct a competitive procurement process in respect of one or 
more contracts for the supply of Children and Family Centres that 
will begin the new Family Hubs model across Gloucestershire. The 
proposed contracts shall continue for an initial period of 7 years 
and include an option to extend its/their term for a further period of 
not more than 2 years;

b) Award such contract(s) to the preferred tenderers.

2. Delegate power to the Assistant Director for AMPS to grant leases for 
the 16 sites to the preferred tenders as required. 

Page 29

Agenda Item 6



2

Reasons for 
recommendations

 
This approach provides an opportunity to recommission Children and Family        
Centres within a longer-term vision for Family Hubs. It allows us the flexibility 
and time to work with partners to develop the “whole Family Hub” model, 
which is not possible within the timescales for commissioning Children and 
Family Centres.  An incremental approach will enable alignment with GCC 
transformation programmes and multi-agency working. This approach will 
also allow the development of an integrated leadership approach and will 
seek to lever in funding from wider agencies as part of the vision for Family 
Hubs as an integrated multi-agency model. This incremental approach to 
commissioning will be tested throughout the procurement process. A 
contract with a longer lifetime is in line with national practice which suggests 
longer term commitment to funding is needed to evidence outcomes, impact 
and efficiencies within Early Help.

Page 30



3

Resource 
Implications

Gloucester City and Forest of Dean District will be lot 1, Stroud District and 
Cotswolds will be lot 2, Cheltenham Borough and Tewkesbury District will be 
lot 3. This configuration of lots aligns with the social care model of working. 
We will be looking for 1 or more provider for these lots, but not 1 provider for 
all.
The total budget figure for the children and family centres contracts is 
£3,931,877 per annum. This is funded through the Dedicated Schools Grant, 
£1,048,758 and £2,883,119 Public Health grant. 
The monies from DSG were approved by the Early Years Forum on 26th 
January. This decision now needs to go to Schools Forum in March to gain 
further approval. 
The Public Health contribution has been confirmed for 22/23.  From April 
2023, should the public health grant funding be unavailable at the current 
level, the Council would need to find the appropriate revenue funding from 
other funding across the whole Council. 

The total maximum value over whole 9 year contract is £35,386,893. This is 
made up of a 7 year contract with an extension period of up to 2 years.

A package is already in place under the current contracts through Asset 
Management and Property Services.  This is funded through an existing 
Gloucestershire County Council budget, and will remain in place under the 
new contracts.
We are seeking approval for the re procurement of Children and Family 
Centres as a starting point to the creation of Family Hubs across 
Gloucestershire. This level of service transformation requires a longer-term 
commitment. An incremental approach of 3 years will be needed to ensure 
alignment of the key services needed to support children and their families 0-
19/25 for the full development of Family Hubs therefore we are seeking a 
contract of 7 years with a further option to extend for up to a 2 year period. 

The 7 year contract will allow the first 3 years to develop the Family Hubs 
model and the latter 4 years to embed this model with an option to extend if 
needed beyond the 7 years for up to a further 2 years.

Page 31



4

Background 
Documents

1. Cabinet paper July 2021
Decision - Variation of existing contracts for an extension to the existing 
services to Children and Family Centres

2. Cabinet paper June 2016
Reshaping Services for Families with Young Children

3. The best start for life: a vision for the 1,001 critical days
The_best_start_for_life_a_vision_for_the_1_001_critical_days.pdf 
(publishing.service.gov.uk)

4. Children and Young People’s Plan 2015-18 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/strategies-
planspolicies/children-and-families/ 

5. Right Placement First Time – Sufficiency Strategy 
Sufficiency Strategy 2018 - 2021 - Gloucestershire County Council
6. Children and Family Centres information and local offer 
Local Offer - Search Results | Glosfamilies Directory
7. Summary, executive summary, booklets and data dashboards for 
Children and Family Centres can be viewed upon request to the report 
author.
8. Pre engagement undertaken with children and families (Nicholas Day 
Associates), with partners and key stakeholders and with youth support 
(DNA Youth Consultancy) have all been listed below and can all be viewed 
upon request to the report author:

‘GCC – Report of Engagement on the Future of Children & Family 
Centres

‘Locality finding, provision and gaps’

‘DNA Gloucestershire Summer 2021’

‘Children & Families pre engagement survey November 2021’

Statutory Authority Gloucestershire County Council
The Childcare Act 2006 - Establishment of Children’s Centres

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

ALL

Officer Name:  Wendy Williams (Assistant Director for Integrated Children and 
Families Commissioning)
Tel. no: 01452 328526
Email: wendy.williams3@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Timeline Spring 2022: Cabinet to approve the recommendation for recommissioning 
of Children and Family Centres as Family Hubs from 1st April 2023 as a 

Page 32

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1694
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1694
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=830
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/973112/The_best_start_for_life_a_vision_for_the_1_001_critical_days.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/973112/The_best_start_for_life_a_vision_for_the_1_001_critical_days.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/strategies-planspolicies/children-and-families/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/strategies-planspolicies/children-and-families/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/children-young-people-and-families/sufficiency-strategy-2018-2021/
https://www.glosfamiliesdirectory.org.uk/kb5/gloucs/glosfamilies/results.page?familychannel=2&qt=Family+Centres&term=&sorttype=relevance
mailto:wendy.williams3@gloucestershire.gov.uk


5

starting point in the development of the wider Family Hub model for 
children 0-19 (0-25 for SEND) across Gloucestershire.
Winter/Spring 2022: Service Specification to be developed
Spring 2022: Engage with providers and families on the model and 
specification
Spring 2022: Invitation to tender to be published
Autumn 2022: Evaluation of tenders
Winter 2022: Award of Contract
31st March 2023: Current contracts for Children and Family Centres ends
1st April 2023: New contracts for Family Hubs starts with a new 
specification and the beginning of the journey towards the development of 
the new model for Family Hubs for Gloucestershire 

Page 33



6

Background 

1 In June 2016, Cabinet approved a new model of working for Children and Family 
Centres to support children pre-birth to 11 years and their families. This moved the 
centres away from providing universal support to targeting those who have a level of 
need that would require intervention. This targeted family support service is based in 16 
Children and Family Centre buildings in the areas of greatest deprivation in 
Gloucestershire. These Children and Family Centres have been managed by 3 
organisations, 2 commissioned externally and one commissioned in house. The other 
29 Children’s Centre buildings have been de-designated as formal centres and have 
been developed as hubs for early education and childcare, with universal services 
delivered by private, voluntary and community groups and as bases for professionals 
who work with families.

2 Cabinet approval was given in July 2021 to vary the current contracts to extend the end 
date of the targeted services (in the 16 Children and Family Centres) until 31st March 
2023. This was to allow us to reshape and consult in order to consider an offer around 
developing an integrated service to the children and families in Gloucestershire.

3 Recently the Family Hub model has emerged nationally as an effective integrated 
model which is being encouraged by various policy initiatives. In particular, the agenda 
is driven by a Children’s Commissioner Paper; Best Start for Life:  A vision for the 1001 
critical days (March 2021). This prompted the Early Help Commissioning Team to 
explore the future of Children Centre’s as part of a potential key ingredient to support 
the creation of Family Hubs, whereby they are reimagined as community bases for 
families with children aged 0-19 (0-25 with SEND).

4 Initial briefings and engagement have taken place with a wide range of stakeholders. 
As a result of the level of interest and excitement, it was agreed that there was 
sufficient interest to explore options as to how to begin the development of Family Hubs 
for GCC.

5 In November 2021 the Health and Wellbeing Board agreed that the Child Friendly         
Coalition for Gloucestershire will co-ordinate the multi-agency vision and strategic 
framework for Family Hubs across Gloucestershire and that a new sub-group will be set 
up to further develop the Family Hub model. GCC will recommission the Children and 
Family Centres independently within this wider partnership context.

What are Family Hubs?

6 Family Hubs are centres which, as part of integrated family services ensure families 
with children and young people aged 0-19 (up to 25 years for children with special 
needs or disabilities) receive early help to overcome a range of difficulties and build 
stronger relationships.

7 Research shows that effective early intervention can improve children’s wellbeing, 
educational attainment and life chances, reduce family poverty, improve mental 
health and lead to lower crime, lower unemployment and can reduce other negative 

Page 34



7

outcomes which carry significant cost to the public purse. The Family Hub model has 
emerged nationally as an effective integrated model. 

8 Family Hubs enhance integrated working by enabling easier access to support, better 
outcomes for families, more effective service delivery and smarter use of budgets. A 
Family Hub is not a prescribed range of services – it is an approach that seeks to offer 
a more coherent and effective support offer across the services they need e.g. health 
services (antenatal, maternity, health visitor, school nurses); early years and childcare 
and education, youth services, parenting support, safety, relationship support; 
employment, finance and other support that reflects local circumstances. 

9 Family Hubs are built on the following key principles, which are both nationally 
recognised and also came through strongly from the pre-engagement work done during 
August 2021.

 Integration
 Shared Outcomes
 Working with the voluntary sector, embedded in local communities
 Focus on early intervention and prevention
 Whole family approach
 Accessibility
 Listening to child and family voices

National Policy Context

10 Family Hubs was a concept developed by the Centre for Social Justice (2014) who 
stated that Family Hubs provide a more integrated, preventative approach to supporting 
the country’s most vulnerable families. Family Hubs can build on the infrastructure of 
children’s centres and extend the offer to include support for parents, couples and 
children of all ages by delivering holistic, early intervention services to whole 
communities. Family Hubs also highlighted the need for whole family support and the 
co-ordination of support across both statutory and voluntary services. 

11 In July 2016 The All-Parliamentary Group strongly concluded that the redevelopment of 
Children’s Centres towards a Family Hub model would make a real difference for 
families. Since then many local areas have looked to Family Hubs as a way of re-
envisioning their Children’s Centres.

12 The agenda is driven further by the early years review undertaken by Andrea Leadsom 
resulting in the Children’s Commissioner for England Paper: Best Start for Life: A vision 
for the 1001 critical days (March 2021). This highlights the need for prevention and the 
building blocks for lifelong emotional and physical health being laid down in the period 
from conception to the age of two years. In Autumn 2021, the government committed 
£300m for Start for Life and the development of Family Hubs, demonstrating their 
further commitment to the model. Family Hubs will learn from emerging best practice, 
supported by the National Family Hub Network.  

Page 35



8

Gloucestershire Context – what we are building from

13 The Child Friendly Coalition for Gloucestershire (CFC) (whose responsibilities are 
underpinned by the Children’s Act 2004, Section 10) is now established and is a place 
which can drive integrated leadership though the system to its stated aims and priorities 
(see Annex 1). The CFC aims and ways of working are aligned with the principles and 
approaches in the Family Hub model. The vision and strategic framework for the 
development of Family Hubs will be developed by the new CFC sub-group that has 
been set up and strengthened by locality partnership structures. 

14 The principles, outcomes (and at risk/target groups) set out in the Joint Strategic 
Commissioning Framework (2015) for children, young people and families remain a 
focus – as does the view to having a more integrated and strategic approach to 
commissioning services which spans the whole of childhood. These high-level 
overarching outcomes form the basis of any commissioning activity whether undertaken 
separately by agencies or jointly, with indicators and measures being identified that can 
help demonstrate progress against achieving them. 

15 Exploratory stakeholder engagement shows there is overwhelming support from 
families, local voluntary and community groups, larger voluntary sector groups as well 
as practitioners, senior managers and leaders across a large range of partners to work 
together towards a Family Hub model across Gloucestershire, with Children’s Centres 
being a key element of the Family Hub model.

16 There are already excellent examples of integrated working to build on and potentially 
these could be accelerated through a Family Hub model, bringing better coherence to 
multi-agency strategic priorities and initiatives that align with the potential role and 
principles of Family Hubs for example, Best Start for Life pilots; Mental Health 
Trailblazers, Transitions to employment 16-19.

17 Post Covid19 there is a refreshed, strong community sector: recent local research 
suggests that small, local community groups (as opposed to national) were perceived to 
be the organisations that ‘stepped up’ during Covid19 and are well engaged with local 
communities. 

Pre engagement work completed March – December 2021 

18 Engagement and storyboard work with families and related professional 
stakeholders: Conversations were held in March 2021 with 14 families and related 
professional stakeholders on their experience of accessing/providing support services 
during lockdown, and how this translates to the future purpose, design specification and 
commissioning of Children’s Centres.

19 Vision Event (16th July 2021):  with senior leaders (21 participants present from 
across a wide range of agencies). The group discussion demonstrated extremely 
positive feedback around the idea of moving towards Family Hubs as a way forward. 
Many participants shared how this would align with their organisations’ aims and 
objectives/vision of their service and how that would support them to achieve these.

Page 36



9

20 Virtual information sessions: 4 events were held in August – morning, afternoon and 
twilight sessions outlining what family hubs are, the national agenda/links, principles 
and examples of models in place elsewhere in the County. A wider range of participants 
attended, including a mix of organisational leaders and practitioners.

21 Local face to face events: locality-based workshops were held in Gloucester City, 
Forest of Dean, Stroud, Cheltenham, Cotswolds and Tewkesbury localities. These 
provided an opportunity for engagement at a local level and to involve a wider group of 
partners/stakeholders to explore local needs to help inform the conversation around 
any future developments of family hubs.

22 Virtual information sessions for Schools: 2 virtual twilight sessions were held 
specifically for schools as they were unable to attend the engagement events held in 
the summer. 

23 The key messages from the engagement events to help inform the development of the 
Family Hubs model and the recommissioning of the Children and Families Centres can 
be summarised as follows:

 Moving towards earlier intervention and help will support families in a more-timely 
way, to prevent escalation to specialist services.

 Better integration and connections with local communities will build whole 
community engagement, destigmatise services and offer a more coherent offer for 
the whole family

 Local areas have different needs which are best responded to at a local level, in 
partnership with local communities, including schools and the VCFS sector.

 A blended offer of face to face and digital support would potentially be the most 
effective way to reach families, building on what has and has not worked during 
the pandemic. Many families remain digitally excluded and online services did not 
work well for many families with new born babies during this period.

 Development of the new model to be underpinned by coproduction and listening 
to the voices of children and families. 

 All future commissioned services should be trauma informed, with staff who are 
able to work in a strengths-based way, and who have a strong knowledge of what 
services are available and how to refer families to them.

Existing Frameworks within which Children and Family Centres Recommissioning will 
take place

Overarching Outcomes

24 Gloucestershire County Council and Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 
have agreed a Joint Strategic Commissioning Framework (2015) for children, young 
people and families with a view to having a more integrated approach to commissioning 
services which spans the whole of childhood. These high-level overarching outcomes 
form the basis of any commissioning activity whether undertaken separately by 
agencies or jointly, with indicators and measures (including shared outcomes) being 
identified that can help demonstrate progress against achieving them.

Page 37



10

Outcomes for children and families

25 There are four overarching outcomes within the Joint Strategic Commissioning 
Framework that we would want to see for children and their families as part of the 
family hubs offer.

Outcome 1: Parents to have good self-esteem, high aspirations for their children, and 
the skills to help their children grow, learn and develop their full potential throughout 
their journey to adulthood.

Outcome 2: Babies, children and young people develop well, are well prepared for, 
and succeed in, education, training and employment and transition successfully at 
different ages and stages of their childhood into adulthood.

Outcome 3: Children, young people, parents and their families are healthy and have 
good emotional and mental wellbeing.

Outcome 4: Children, young people, parents and families who are identified as being in 
‘greatest need’ have ‘sustained effective engagement and contact ‘with appropriate 
services and support 

The service will make a significant contribution to achieving these outcomes for children 
0-19 (25 for SEND) and their families.

Overarching Organisational Outcomes

26 Within the Joint Strategic Commissioning Framework there are also four organisational 
outcomes that are:

Organisational outcome 1: Making best use of the total workforce i.e. ensuring the 
right people are doing the right thing at the right time and in the right place and 
mitigating difficulties in recruiting and retaining key specific professionals by creative 
approaches to workforce design and development consistent with maintaining 
competence, quality and managing risk.

Organisational Outcome 2:  Reducing duplication across the workforce i.e. being 
consistent and doing things once.

Organisational Outcome 3:  Reducing costs by improved efficiency, cost avoidance, 
and reducing cost pressures.

Organisational Outcome 4:  Within appropriate information governance 
arrangements, making best use of data and information sharing in order to maximise 
opportunities for timely assessment, planning, support and intervention with children, 
young people and families.

Page 38



11

Options Appraisal

27 Since Cabinet approval was given in July 2021 to vary and extend the current contracts 
for Children and Family Centres until end March 2023 pre-engagement work has been 
undertaken to consider an offer around developing an integrated service to the children 
and families in Gloucestershire.

 
28 During this same time period the national agenda around the development of Family 

Hubs has been strengthened further. This presents an exciting opportunity for 
Gloucestershire to repurpose and bring together Children and Family Centres in the 
context of the wider development of the Family Hub model. 

29 The three options to be considered by cabinet in terms of the direction of travel for 
Children’s Centre’s are as follows:

Option 1: Do nothing
No service will be provided by Gloucestershire County Council to children and their 
families

Option 2: Make no changes to current provision
No major changes will be made to the current service model for Children and Family 
Centres. The focus will remain on targeted family support services for families with 
children 0-11 through the existing 16 children and family centres. 

Option 3: Change the universal/targeted balance of support
Family Hubs comprise Children and Family Centres offering 0-11 universal and targeted 
services. Children and Family Centres will be recommissioned and reconfigured as 
Family Hubs to provide a different balance of universal and targeted support to families. 
They will not be recommissioned as part of the emerging vision for an integrated, 0-19 
(25 with SEND) Family Hubs model.

Option 4: Commissioning of Children and Family Centres as the first step in an 
incremental/transitional approach to an integrated Family Hub model. 

Children and Family Centres will be recommissioned as Family Hubs providing the 
different balance of universal and targeted support. They will be commissioned with 
greater flexibility to enable them to drive forward the vision for an integrated Family Hub 
model for Gloucestershire. They will comprise the first key step in an incremental (age 
and stage) approach to the Family Hub model, starting with 0-11 years but with an 
ambition to work with families with children 0-19 (25 SEND). An incremental approach will 
enable alignment with GCC transformation programmes and multi-agency working.

We are seeking approval of Option 4 from cabinet.

Page 39



12

Risks

Risks: Option1
30 Gloucestershire County Council have a statutory duty to provide services to children 
and families.

Risks: Option 2

31 Pre-engagement feedback from families and professionals suggests that the current focus 
on targeted support has (a) reduced the ability of Children and Family Centres to meet the 
needs of families when they first need support (b) led to some stigmatisation of children 
and family centres. By continuing with the current Children and Family Centre model, there 
is a risk that family needs will escalate, increasing demand for targeted and specialist 
services. This is not effective for families or cost effective for GCC.    

Risks: Option 3

32 The key risk is missing (or slowing down) the opportunity for Children and Family Centres 
to drive the emerging vision for family hubs in Gloucestershire. Children and Family Centre 
commissioning under this model would not be sufficiently flexible to (a) evolve the support 
offer to families across the wider age range (0-19/25 SEND) or (b) take advantage of 
emerging integrated working models which offer the potential for seamless and more 
effective support for families (e.g. Best Start for Life). 

Risks: Option 4

33 The longer-term transformation to the 0-19 (25 SEND) Family Hubs model requires 
significant commitment from partners in terms of integrated leadership and partnership 
working. This commitment exists in principle through the engagement to date, but barriers 
(including pooling resources) may prevent this from materialising in practice. This will 
result in option 3 becoming option 2 in practice. 

34 The approach to achieve option 4 requires a greater degree of partnership working 
between the providers and commissioning team, which will need to be developed.  

Financial and employment implications

35 There will be no change in overall budget for Children and Family Centres with the annual 
budget remaining at £3,931,877 – but the funding will be used differently to increase 
universal provision to enable a reduction in spend on targeted support over the contract 
period. As other services join the Family Hubs model they will bring with them an influx of 
budget spend with their services aligning allowing for the pooling of budgets.

36 This level of service transformation requires a longer-term financial commitment. An initial 
period of 7 years, made up of a 3-year incremental commissioning will be needed to 
ensure alignment of the key services needed to support children and their families 0-19/25. 
Following this initial period, a further 4 years delivery of a Family Hub model will be 
needed to evaluate effectiveness and measure outcomes and impact. The option to 
extend for a further 2 years is in line with National practice that shows, within Early Help in 

Page 40



13

particular, a longer-term funding is necessary in order to measure impact, outcomes and 
efficiencies to the Local Authority. Without this long-term commitment commissioning 
cannot guarantee and evidence the success of the Family Hub model. Like all contracts 
this one will be reviewed throughout its lifetime and any risk or contractual amendment will 
be actioned by the council’s due process. 

37 TUPE will be managed through vacancy management of posts within the locality. If any 
changes do look to impact staff a full consultation will take place with both trade unions 
and with individual workers. 

38 Any TUPE of staff from current providers to potential new providers will be managed by 
the outgoing and incoming providers where the service is already commissioned 
externally.

Climate change implications

39 The importance of place-based services and people being able to access universal 
services close to where they live will be important considerations as Family Hubs are 
developed. This will help to reduce the carbon footprint. The Hubs will also provide places 
for professionals to deliver services from and thereby reducing travel across the Districts.

 
Equality implications

40 Has an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) been completed? Yes 

41 Cabinet Members should read and consider the Equalities Impact Assessment in order to 
satisfy themselves as decision makers that due regard has been given.

42 The service actively reaches out to children from underrepresented communities, which 
is reflected in the higher proportion of families from diverse backgrounds accessing 
children centres compared with the Gloucestershire population. The new service will 
continue to collect and analyse data relating to race and ethnicity to ensure that services 
are accessed and effective for all families.

43 The service will continue to work inclusively with pre-birth parents, teenage mothers and 
fathers and pregnant young women, including those in care. Working more closely with 
midwives will support engagement from all parents/parents to be. 

 
44 Gender reassignment, religion and or beliefs and sexual orientation data is currently not 

collected. We will work with the Information Management Service and providers on how 
we can collect this data in the future to address consent/Privacy Notice issues. As part 
of the co-production with young people and parents, we will identify and understand 
barriers and effective approaches which will enable us to continually understand and 
address barriers to the engagement of services. 

Page 41



14

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

45 IMS Procurement risk assessment has been completed and advice from IMS has been 
sought, they advise that the risk rating is high. DPIA is required and is underway but is yet 
to be completed and signed off by the Information Asset Owner. 

46 A Privacy Notice is being written for existing providers, so that recipients know how their 
data is being shared. There will also be a Privacy Notice written for new providers in the 
future.

Social value implications

47 Opportunities for social value have been explored throughout the pre-engagement process 
and will continue to be explored through a further engagement process. GCC are 
committed to embedding Social Value (SV) throughout their contracts and tenders will 
contain a requirement to demonstrate social value. It will focus on employment 
opportunities, engagement with the local community and improving the lives and outcomes 
of service users.
A question relating to social value will also be included as part of the tender questionnaire.

Pre-engagement feedback

48 Feedback from the pre-engagement work to date with families and professionals will 
continue to be used to inform the development of the new model for Family Hubs.

49 Stakeholders are working together on a vision statement and strategy for a Family Hub 
model. This process started at a stakeholder engagement event on Tuesday 30th 
November 2021.

50 There will be a further opportunity for engagement on the service specification prior to the 
recommissioning 

Officer recommendations

48 Option 4: Incremental/Transition Model

Performance Management/Follow-up 

49 Robust monitoring frameworks are still in place, for the core delivery of the service. 
Monitoring frameworks for the new contracts will also be in place and developed 
accordingly for the duration of the contracts.

50 The Children and Family Centre contracts will continue to be monitored on a quarterly 
basis.

51 All performance data will be evaluated as part of reshaping and developing the new 
service model.

Page 42



15

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TITLE:  Local Welfare Provision 2022-2024 Contract Extension

Cabinet Date 23rd February 2022

Cabinet Member Cllr Stephen Davies, Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early 
Years in consultation with Cllr Tim Harman, Cabinet Member for Public 
Health and Communities

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To seek approval to exercise an option to extend the term of the council’s 
existing Gloucestershire Welfare Support contract for a period of 2 years 
(2022/23 & 2023/24), following the expiry of its initial 3 year term.

Recommendations

That Cabinet approves the exercise of a 2 year extension option 
(commencing 01/04/2022) under a contract with Auriga Services Ltd for the 
provision of Local Welfare Support services in respect of the Gloucestershire 
Welfare Support Scheme for eligible adults, families and young people that 
was awarded pursuant to a decision by Cabinet dated 18/07/2018.
 

Reasons for 
recommendations

The recommendation in this report to extend the term of the current contract, 
if accepted, will ensure the continuation of maintaining support to people in 
vulnerable circumstances in accordance with the aims of the Council’s 
Strategy and Settled, Secure and Safe Lives in Gloucestershire Policy.

Resource 
Implications In 2018, Cabinet approved up to £2.6m spend for the Gloucestershire 

Welfare Support Scheme.

During COVID there have been variations to the existing contract to 
accommodate additional forms of support for those that have found 
themselves in a vulnerable situation. This additional support has been funded 
from COVID grants made available by Central Government. As a result the 
total anticipated spend under this contract has exceeded the original £2.6m 
by an estimated £150k, however this additional spend is more than covered 
by the COVID grant allocated to the service. 
.
Spend in relation to the recommendation within this report to extend the 
current contract will be within existing budgeted resources. The annual 
contract value is up to £520k per annum in the contract extension.

Page 45

Agenda Item 7



Background 
Documents Previous decisions:

 Cabinet Decision (18/07/2018) Tender and award a contract to 
deliver Gloucestershire Welfare Support Scheme 
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CI
d=117&MID=8900#AI21271

 ICM Decision (29/05/2020) COVID-19 Emergency Assistance 
Fund for Food and Essential Supplies.
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s62986/ICM
%20Report%20-
%20Covid%2019%20Emergency%20Assistance%20Fund%20
2020%20FINAL.pdf

Statutory Authority Localism Act 2011 – General Power of Competence

Section 70 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 abolished the payments of crisis 
loans and community care grants from the discretionary social fund.  
Instead, new locally-administered assistance was introduced to be provided 
by local authorities.

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

ALL

Officer Name:  Wendy Williams, Assistant Director for Integrated Children and 
Families Commissioning 
Tel. no: 01452 462187
Email: wendy.williams3@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Timeline  Communicate preferred recommendation/intention to extend 
contract to Provider

 Extension decision made at February 2022 Cabinet meeting
 Enter into contract extension with incumbent provider by 1/4/22 

(for the period 01/04/22 – 31/03/2024)

Page 46

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MID=8900#AI21271
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MID=8900#AI21271
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s62986/ICM%20Report%20-%20Covid%2019%20Emergency%20Assistance%20Fund%202020%20FINAL.pdf
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s62986/ICM%20Report%20-%20Covid%2019%20Emergency%20Assistance%20Fund%202020%20FINAL.pdf
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s62986/ICM%20Report%20-%20Covid%2019%20Emergency%20Assistance%20Fund%202020%20FINAL.pdf
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s62986/ICM%20Report%20-%20Covid%2019%20Emergency%20Assistance%20Fund%202020%20FINAL.pdf
mailto:wendy.williams3@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Background 

1. The Gloucestershire Welfare Support Scheme (GWSS) has been operating since 
April 2013. As part of the Welfare Reform Act, Community Care Grants and Crisis 
Loans, previously distributed by Job Centres, were abolished. All top tier local 
authorities received funding from the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) with 
an expectation, but no statutory duty, that they would arrange to make an offer of 
support to those in crisis from April 2013.  Since 2015, government funding has 
been included as part of the Local Government Financial Settlement.  Local councils 
are viewed as appropriate bodies to provide this assistance given existing 
responsibilities for vulnerable children and adults. 

2. The GWSS provides practical one-off support or assistance to vulnerable adults and 
families in the form of non-cash awards such as household items, clothing, recycled 
goods, food deliveries and fuel vouchers. It has clear eligibility criteria, developed in 
conjunction with stakeholders, to ensure funds support those most in need.
Applicants are often supported by agencies such as housing providers, district 
councils, voluntary and community organisations, social care services, children and 
family centres etc. and are signposted to local welfare support services to help 
address persisting underlying issues and prevent repeat crises.

3. The current Gloucestershire Welfare Support Scheme supports the Council Strategy 
and its key purpose is to support people in vulnerable circumstances with a welfare 
need to:

 Deal with an immediate crisis or exceptional pressure to their basic needs
 Move out of residential or supported accommodation into settled 

accommodation
 Feel more independent, resilient and able to recover from a crisis/pressure
 Reduce demand for future welfare support
 Remain living in their community

Current Arrangements

4. Following Cabinet approval in July 2018 an EU compliant competitive tender 
process was undertaken for the management and delivery of the Welfare Support 
Scheme for eligible adults, families and young people. A 5 year contract (for an 
initial term of 3 years with an option to extend for a further 2 years) was awarded to 
Auriga Services Ltd. The initial 3-year term will end on 31st March 2022 but we are 
looking to exercise the contractual option to extend for 2 years.

5. Applications to the Gloucestershire Welfare Support Scheme can broadly be 
categorised into two:

 Crisis awards: awards which help alleviate extreme pressure on the health/safety 
of an individual or family

 Care awards: awards that help people moving back into the community to settle 
i.e. Care leavers, homeless individuals

6. Since 2016 the GWSS has also been used to process social care welfare requests.  
This use of the scheme has been received positively by Social Care and Youth 

Page 47



Support teams. It frees up staff time that was previously spent on administering 
petty cash payments and has ensured service users safely and promptly receive the 
actual items to meet their needs e.g. food deliveries, fuel meter top-ups, clothing.

Options

Option One: 

7. To approve the recommendation to extend the current contract for the period 1st 
April 2022 – 30th March 2024 and continue with the existing Local Welfare support 
scheme that :

 is provided by an external provider on behalf of the Council; 
 administers welfare support applications with similar eligibility criteria to the 

current scheme where only the most vulnerable are supported;
 processes an increasing number of welfare requests for Social Care and 

Youth Support teams; and 
 administers rent in advance/deposit requests against set eligibility criteria 

8. There are no internal staffing implications from this decision as internal resource 
supporting the contract is currently funded from existing permanent staffing budgets. 

Option Two:

9. End the scheme at end of the initial 3 year term of the council’s current contract with 
Auriga Services Ltd - Not to have a Welfare Support Scheme would leave people in 
vulnerable circumstances in difficulty, potentially leading to a higher demand for the 
Council and other statutory services.

Option Three:

10.Operate the current scheme in-house - The in house administration of the scheme 
would require significant administrative resources and the development of 
processes for the administration, evaluation and an independent escalation 
procedure for applicants.

Option Four:

11.Recommission the service from the end of year 3. This option was rejected on the 
basis that there is a contract in place with a compliant extension option where the 
provider is delivering a good service. This option would allow commissioners to 
focus on delivering the pandemic response and recovery rather than a full-scale 
review and public, stakeholder and market engagement and plan a new/redesigned 
service model at this time. 

Preferred option:  Option One

Page 48



Risks 

12.The biggest risk to the Council would be if we did not extend the existing contract as 
this would significantly impact on the support available to vulnerable people. 

Procurement Risk

13.The Council’s estimated total spend under the contract will likely exceed the 
advertised estimated value (£2.6 million) but as per the resource implications 
section of this report above, this will not be by a material amount (ie, less than 10% 
of the original contract value and lower than the current Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015 threshold). Therefore, any risk of legal challenge under PCR’s is 
low.

Financial implications

14.The annual value of this contract is up to £520k.

15.Spend in relation to the recommendation within this report to extend the current 
contract will be within existing budgeted resources. There are no internal staffing 
implications from this decision as internal resource supporting the contract is 
currently funded from existing permanent staffing budgets. 

Climate change implications

16.No disproportionate impact identified

Equality implications

Has an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) been completed? Yes

17.The Equalities Impact Assessment identifies which protected groups will remain as 
a priority under the scheme. Not all service users provide information on a number 
of protected characteristics; however agencies, which support the majority of 
applicants, have raised no issues regarding access due to protected characteristics.  
Applicants and trusted agencies will continue to be encouraged to provide protected 
characteristic information to test the robustness and inclusiveness of the scheme 
going forward

18.Cabinet Members should read and consider the Equalities Impact Assessment in 
order to satisfy themselves, as decision makers, that due regard has been given.

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

19.A DPIA has been drafted for the most recent welfare provision under the COVID19 
grant – Household Support Grant. Any residual risks will be highlighted to senior 
officers within the Children & Families’ service and the Data Protection Officer 
(DPO).

Page 49



Social value implications

20.GCC are committed to embedding Social Value (SV) throughout their contracts and 
tenders. Opportunities for social value and work with local community suppliers 
(including local retailers and recycling shops) formed part of the original tender and 
contract and will continue to be explored. The contract is focused on improving the 
lives and outcomes of service users. 

Consultation feedback

21.Consultation took place prior to commencement of the contract to involve key 
stakeholders. The impact of this has seen the first 3 years of the contract see lots of 
positive feedback, with service user complaints at a low level. 

Officer recommendations

22.To exercise the option within the Local Welfare Support contract to extend provision 
for a further 2 years with the provider Auriga Services Ltd, for the management of 
the Gloucestershire Welfare Support Scheme for eligible adults, families and young 
people.

Performance management/follow-up 

23.The Gloucestershire Welfare Support Scheme contract will continue to include 
specific and measurable standards and outcomes. It will continue to be actively 
managed by the provision and analysis of monthly key performance indicators and 
regular contractual monitoring meetings either face to face or via telephone 
conference with the successful provider. 

Page 50



                                                                             

REPORT TITLE: Health and Social Care Independent Advocacy Service for Adults, Children’s 
& Young People

Cabinet Date 23rd February 2022

Cabinet Member Cllr Carole Allaway-Martin, Adult Social Care Commissioning
Cllr Kathy Williams, Adult Social Care Delivery

  Cllr Stephen Davies, Children's Safeguarding and Early Years
Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To seek cabinet permission to invite tenders for new contract(s) for Children’s 
and Adults advocacy services from 30th September 2022 and to award such 
contract(s). The proposed model provides for a contract divided into the 
following 2 lots: 
Lot 1. Independent Advocacy Health and Social Care for Adults.
Lot 2. Independent Advocacy for Children and Young People. 

This will allow an alignment of Independent Advocacy services across Health 
and Social Care for Adults, Children and Young people to meet the Council’s 
statutory duties laid down in the Mental Health Act 1983, the Mental Health 
Act 2005, the Care Act 2014 and the Children Act 1989, in addition to the 
Human Rights Act of 1998.
This aligns contract(s)for the duration of the term and saves resources for 
Commissioning and support services in a joint procurement exercise.
In addition, it has the potential to gain more interest in the marketplace. 

Page 51

Agenda Item 8



Recommendations

That Cabinet delegates authority to the Executive Director for Adult Social 
Care and Public Health in consultation with the Executive Director of 
Children’s Services, the Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care 
Commissioning, the Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Delivery and the 
Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years to:

1. Conduct a competitive procurement process in respect of the following 
two lots:

a) Lot 1:  The provision of Independent Advocacy services across 
Health and Social Care for Adults; and 

b) Lot 2:  The provision of Independent Advocacy services across 
Health and Social Care for Children and Young people. 

Such lots may be awarded to the same tenderer or awarded to two 
separate tenderers. The contract(s) shall continue for an initial period 
of five years and include an option to extend their terms for a further 
period of not more two years.  

2. Reserve the council a right under the above-mentioned contract (Lot 
1) insofar as it relates to Independent Advocacy Services for Adults to 
modify its provisions following the introduction of anticipated legislative 
changes Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards and Liberty Protection 
Safeguards, changes arising from the Mental Health White Paper and 
the expectation of increased demand for advocacy for self-funded 
clients. It is anticipated that such changes will result in increased 
requirement to commission additional volume of existing statutory 
advocacy for adults (up to an additional 50%), depending on yet to be 
released Government guidance.

3. Award such contract(s) to the preferred tenderer(s) for the specified 
period of five years.

4. Determine whether to exercise the option to extend the term of the 
contract(s) for a further period of not more than 2 years on the expiry 
of the initial 5-year term.

 

Page 52



Reasons for 
recommendations

Existing contract(s) for the Health and Social Care Advocacy are coming to 
an end in September 2022 and will need to be re-procured. The opportunity 
has been taken to review the current arrangements with a view to delivering a 
more inclusive and consistent approach across Gloucestershire, ensuring the 
voices of individuals receiving support are heard. 

The objective of the recommendations is to re-commission advocacy services 
for both Children & Young People and Adults in Gloucestershire in 2 separate 
lots to meet both statutory obligations and afford individuals their rights. 

The aims are to:
- provide advocacy services that ensure compliance with the statutory 

requirements 
- secure future funding for advocacy services
- ensure service continuity
- re-commission services that fit with the commissioning of information 

and advice services
- commission services that fit with the wish to promote independence 

and active communities.

Page 53



Resource 
Implications Adult Services Advocacy

- The current available budget for Adults’ Advocacy is £737,000 (PA)

- The current average annual spend is £650,000 (PA).

- The estimated value of Lot 1 is therefore £5,159,000.00 over the 7-
year term including the 2-year extension.

Children’s Services Advocacy

- The available budget is £110,000.00 (PA)

- The estimated value of Lot 2 is therefore £770.000.00 over the 7-year 
term including the 2-year extension.

A number of factors are expected to increase demand for advocacy services 
during the lifetime of these contract(s), including:

- Legislative changes (which include the Mental Health White Paper, 
and Liberty Protection Safeguards) 

- Increased demand for advocacy from ‘self-funded’ clients arising from 
the implementation of the Dilnot Commission recommendations for a 
cap on social care funding.

In anticipation of these changes, provision will be made within the Adult 
Services Advocacy contract to increase its total value by up to 50%, which 
would take its maximum estimated value to £7.738 million over its full 7 
years.  This increase in the contract value will be subject to:

- The additional funding being secured either in the form of Government 
grant or through the Council’s own Medium Term Financial Strategy 
process; and

- A further executive decision to commit that expenditure within the 
contract.

Page 54



Background 
Documents

Cabinet Member Decision (11/03/2020): Extension of Health and Social Care 
Advocacy Services Contract
Cabinet Decision (28/09/2016): Procurement of Advocacy and Related 
Services
The Care Act 2014
NHS Long Term Plan
Mental Health Act 1983
Mental Health Act 2005 and the Care Act 2014
Business Case- October
Children & Families Act 2014

Statutory Authority Gloucestershire County Council’s Statutory Duties for Adult Services extend 
to, the Care Act 2014; Health & Social Care Act 2012, Mental Health Act 
2007, Mental Capacity Act 2005, Children & Families Act 2014 and Children’s 
Act (various)

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

All

Officer Name:  Kim Forey - Director of Integration
Tel. no: 01452 583799
Email: kimforey@nhs.net

Timeline Cabinet Approval: February 2022
Tender Process:   Spring 2022
Contract(s) Award:    Summer 2022
Contract(s) Start:       Autumn 2022

Background 

Adult Advocacy Services 

1. Over time a number of statutory duties to provide independent advocacy have been 
introduced and Gloucestershire County Council has commissioned these incrementally; 
sometimes with new contract(s) and other times using variations to existing contract(s). 

2. In 2016, Cabinet approved the collective recommissioning of Adult Advocacy services under 
one Contract.

3.The resulting contract was awarded to POhWER, enabling the collective commissioning of 
these advocacy services with subsequent successful commissioning arrangements to 

Page 55

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1444
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1444
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=870
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=870


efficiently meet a range of statutory duties including the Care Act 2014; Health & Social Care 
Act 2012, Mental Health Act 2007, Mental Capacity Act 2005, Children & Families Act 2014 
and Children’s Act (various), as well as the local prevention, early intervention, 
and personalisation agendas. 

4. In March 2020, Cabinet approved an extension and variation of such contract(s) for a period 
of two years. This contract ends in Sept 2022.

 Children’s Advocacy Services

5. The current contract for Children’s Advocacy Services is with Barnardo’s. It includes the 
supply of independent social care advocacy to children in care and disabled children in 
Gloucestershire. The Barnardo’s Contract is due to end on 30th of September 2022 and is 
aligned to the end date of the adult’s advocacy contact following the expiry of a contract 
extension that was approved by Cabinet on the 11th of March 2020. 

6. The market for providers was last explored in 2017 and a fresh analysis of the market for 
this service needs to be undertaken to ensure that best value for money provision is offered to 
people of the county. 

 Enabling individuals’ voices to he heard and to understand choice.

7. Independent advocacy can assist individuals to understand their choices, make decisions 
and have their voice heard. It supports the Council’s commitment to “No Decision about me, 
without me”.  The national Advocacy Charter defines advocacy as: “taking action to help 
people say what they want, secure their rights, represent their interests and obtain services 
they need. Advocates and advocacy providers work in partnership.

8. Advocacy is available to Individuals who lack capacity, understanding of complex legislation 
and need support for their voice to be heard and their preferences to be known with regards to 
their care and medical treatments or where they live. This includes:

- those who have either a physical disability or sensory impairment.
- individuals who do not have a friend or family member to enable their voice to be 

heard.
- individuals with a mental disorder (as defined by the Mental Health Act 1983) 

who are either in hospital or a community setting and are entitled to Advocacy.
- individuals who lack mental capacity e.g., suffering from either permanent or 

temporary incapacity.
- those who have barriers to communication- English may not be their first 

language.
- family, carers, or friends who cannot speak up or be available to support the 

individual who needs their voice heard.
- individuals that do not understand legislation and their human rights.
- those who need an independent person to support them in decisions that might 

have an impact on the quality and outcomes of their lives.
- persons who have a drug or alcohol related problem.
- Individuals who have an acquired brain injury.

Page 56



9. We currently commission Independent Adult Health and Social Care advocacy which 
covers:

- Independent Health Complaints Advocacy (IHCA)
- Independent Mental Health Advocacy (IMHA)
- Independent Mental Capacity Advocacy (IMCA) including the Relevant Person’s 

Representatives Independent Care Act Advocacy (IMCA)
- Independent Social Care Complaints Advocacy (ISCCA)

10. Our Children’s and Young People’s Advocacy Services extend to:

- Empowering vulnerable children and young people in care to participate in 
decisions that affect their lives and to support young people when making 
complaints.

- Advocacy for children and young people with disabilities, including non-
instructed advocacy for those lacking capacity and Special Educational Needs 
and Disability (SEND) advocacy. 

The proposed contract(s) will cover the following provision.

     Service Purpose

1. Independent Health 
Complaints 
Advocacy (IHCA)

To enable individuals to make a complaint about NHS care.

2. Independent Mental 
Health Advocacy 
(IMHA)

For people who are detained under the Mental Health Act or 
who are under a Community Treatment Order. 

3. Independent Mental 
Capacity Advocacy 
(IMCA) including 
the Relevant 
Person’s 
Representatives 
under the Liberty 
protection 
Safeguards (LPS) 

To help particularly vulnerable people who lack the capacity to 
make important decisions (therefore covered by the Mental 
Capacity Act) about serious medical treatment, changes of 
accommodation, safeguarding concerns and care reviews and 
who have no family or friends that it would be appropriate to 
consult about those decisions. IMCAs will work with and 
support people who lack capacity and represent their views to 
those who are working out their best interests. IMCA are not 
decision makers.

4. Independent Care 
Act Advocacy 
(IMCA)

To involve individuals who would experience substantial 
difficulty and have no appropriate involver, in key processes 
and interactions with the LA and other organisations as 
required for safeguarding enquiries or reviews.

Page 57



11. The re-commissioning of these services in two lots (one lot for Adult’s Advocacy and one 
for Children’s and Young People’s services), provides an opportunity to take a strategic 
approach to getting best value, better customer experience and responding to fluctuating 
demand. It also enables us to commission arrangements to efficiently meet a range of 
statutory duties including the Care Act 2014; Health & Social Care Act 2012, Mental Health 
Act 2007, Mental Capacity Act 2005, Children & Families Act 2014 and Children’s Act 
(various), as well as the local prevention, early intervention, and personalisation agendas.

Potential Impact of Liberty Protection Safeguards (LPS) and Mental Health Act Reforms:

12. New legislation is expected that will introduce new Liberty Protection Safeguards (LPS).  
This legislation was due in April 2022 and has been postponed. The Council will reserve the 
right to amend Adult Services Advocacy aspect of the contract The contract will need to 
accommodate these new services in order to ensure that the Council will be able to meet its 
legal duties thereunder and any other changes that emerge with regards to the Mental Health 
White Paper when guidance becomes available.

To make provision for additional funding to support changing legislation above as it emerges 
after the mobilisation of the new contact in Sept 2022 it is proposed that the contract includes 
provision for it’s value to be increased by an amount no greater than 50% of the original value.

13. Community Advocacy: 
 In a recent engagement with Black Asian and Minority Ethnic Groups it was identified that 
there is a need to increase awareness amongst these groups of what Statutory Advocacy is, 
how it can enable their voice to be heard and their rights to an Advocate when eligible.  

14. Feedback from other charities and organisations indicated that individuals with protected 
characteristics and the organisations that support them, are less likely to understand their 
eligibility or how it enables their voice to be heard.

5. Independent Social 
Care Complaints 
Advocacy (ISCCA)

To enable individuals to make a complaint about Social Care 
(they must meet the same criteria as Care Act to be eligible for 
this service).

6. Children’s and 
Young People’s 
Advocacy 

Empower vulnerable children and young people in care to 
participate in decisions that affect their lives and to support 
young people when making complaints 
Advocacy for children and young people with disabilities, 
including non-instructed advocacy for those lacking capacity 
and Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) 
advocacy

7. Health Advocacy To provide scope to include Health Advocacy for Liberty 
Protection Safeguards to procure services within the Adult 
Social Care contract for the Clinical Commissioning Group – 
NHS Gloucestershire should they so wish. 

Page 58



15. We seek to raise awareness of Independent Statutory Advocacy by appointing an Equality 
and Inclusion Community Development Worker, who will be employed by the incumbent 
provider of Adults’ Advocacy during the current contract on a pilot basis, with a view to building 
in the outputs and outcomes into the future contract.

- engage individuals in all communities to participate in training for ‘self-advocacy’ 
and ‘peer advocacy’ in the future contract – this we believe will support our ambition 
to reduce health inequalities.

- help people find their own voice and challenge decisions whether empowered to do 
so, or 

- enable someone in their community to access the right supports at the right time by 
developing individuals to advocate on other behalf. 

16. Anticipated demand for Adults’ Advocacy.

Table 1 shows new cases received for 2017/2018, 2018/2019, 2019/2020 and 2020/2021.  We 
have compared this data with the contract(s) forecasted figures for each area. The Relevant 
Person’s Paid Representative (RPPR) data is recorded as visits (counting 4 per case) and 
cases as this was how the forecast was provided. 

Table 1

17/18 
actuals

18/19 
actuals

19/20
actuals

20/21 
actuals  

Forecas
t 17/18

Forecast 
18/19

Forecast
19/20

Forecast 
20/21

% 
Difference 
between 
actual and 
forecast 
17/18

% 
Difference 
between 
actual and 
forecast 
18/19

% 
Difference 
between 
actual and 
forecast 
19/20

% 
Difference 
between 
actual and 
forecast 
20/21

IMCA
* 232 254 247 219 145 145 150 150

60% 
increase

75.17% 
increase

65%
increase

46%
increase

IMCA 
*
RPPR
*

243 
(cases) 

972 
visits

254 
(cases) 
1016 
visits

290 
(cases)
1160 
visits

298
(cases)
1192 
visits

465 
visits

480 
visits

490 
visits

500
visits

109.03% 
increase

111.67% 
increase

144.09% 
increase

138.40%
increase

IMCA 
DoLS 
* 102 100 113 86 110 110 115 115

7.27% 
decrease

9.09% 
decrease

1.7% 
decrease

25.2%
decrease

IHCA
* 148 121 121 98 155 155 155 155

4.52% 
decrease

21.94% 
decrease

21.94%
decrease

36.77%
decrease

IMHA
* 422 786 1554 1367 300 300 360 360

47.33% 
increase

162% 
increase

332% 
increase

280%
increase

CAA* 574 464 408 412 401 462 462 462
43.14% 
increase

0.43% 
increase

11.68%
increase

10.82% 
increase

Page 59



IMCA* Independent Mental Capacity Advocate
RPPR* Relevant Paid Persons Representative
IMCA DoLS * Independent Mental Capacity Advocate, Deprivation of Liberty.
IHCA* Independent Health Complaints Advocacy
IMHA*Independent Mental Health Advocate 
CAA*Care Act Advocate
SCC*Social Care Complaints

17. Please note that these numbers and forecasts are from 2017 to date and are not any 
guarantee of the level of service to be provided and are offered only as a guide to future need.

18. It should be noted that the Covid-19 Pandemic impacted the volumes of assessments for 
2020 and 2021. In March 2020 Residential care homes closed to visitors and assessments 
were stopped at the time. Remote assessments were begun when allowed by Department of 
Health and Social Care (DHSC) Guidance and GCC was able to introduce video meeting 
technology into many care homes which allowed remote assessments to increase. Numbers 
increased but not to pre-pandemic levels due to the extra time it takes to set up and establish 
relationship with person. 

19. Face to face assessments returned with government guidance in 2021 (where possible) 
However ongoing Covid-19 outbreaks in care homes has led to further delays in assessments 
and a reduction in the numbers compared to pre-March 2020 levels. The predicted cases are 
therefore based on pre-pandemic levels and provide the most accurate figures for forecasting 
future cases. 

20. During the pandemic there has been a slight decrease in referrals to some of our 
advocacy services including Care Act, Independent Mental Capacity Advocacy (IMCA) DoLS 
and Independent Health Complaints Advocacy.  Some of this is thought be due to lack of 
awareness that these services were still operational albeit remotely and the limitation on face-
to-visits. Independent Mental Capacity Advocacy and Independent Mental Health Advocacy 
(IMHA) service referrals however although lower than in the previous year, remain high.  
Based on the figures received for services quarters 1 and 2 of 2021/2022 we anticipate 
referrals numbers to show an increase across all over the course of the year. 

21. Children’s Services Demand.
The Children’s Advocacy Service is available to all looked after children, care leavers, 
privately fostered children, children subject to a child protection plan and, children who receive 
a service from social care who wish to make a complaint. The demand for advocacy for 
Children is expected to increase due to the number of young people in care in 
Gloucestershire. 

22. The service continued to provide critical face to face work where required during the Covid 
pandemic, with robust Covid-19 health and safety measures in place. Continual review of all 
“working together safely” documents ensures that risks are well managed and that a seamless 
service continues to be provided to children and young people in Gloucestershire. The Service 
continued to reflect on the challenges and successes during the pandemic with conscious 

CAA 
SCC* 19 16 19 11

Page 60



efforts to further increase their digital presence and engagement. Numbers did decrease 
during 2020/21 due to Covid. As of March 2021, the service has resumed office presence in 
line with safe Covid-19 practice.

23. The service capacity continues to grow year on year and the Service continues to utilise 
their close links to other advocacy services which has provided the service with additional 
advocate time. 

24. Performance Indicators for Children’s and Young Peoples Services.

Table 2

Performance 
Indicator

GCC 
Current 
yearly set 
target for 
Children's 
Advocacy

Average 
quarterly 
target 

2017/18
Running 
total
Missing 
data

2018/19 
Running 
Total 
Missing 
Data

2019/20 
Running 
Total

2020/21 
Covid 

Running 
Total 

Numbers 
have 

dropped.

2021/2022 
Covid 
Current Year 
only have Q1 
& Q2 data 
available

CYP subject 
to Child 
Protection 
Conference

260 65 282 200 212 151 77

Children in 
Care/Care 
Leavers 

160 40 155 159 153 128 141

CYP Making 
Complaint 20 5 15 10 14 9 4

Disabled CYP 
non-
instructed 
Advocacy 
(figures included 
in LAC/CP figures 
above)

30 7.5 33 43 43 25 9

 Options
25. Option 1:
To recommission advocacy services through one procurement arrangement with two Lots 1-
Adults and 2-Children and Young people’s advocacy services. This will result in the contract(s) 
being awarded to one or more successful bidders. It enables the market to have an 
opportunity to bid on both lots, it streamlines the use of internal resources- particularly 
pertinent during a pandemic.
This is the recommended option.

26. The benefits of this preferred option would be:
- Both contracts aligned.

Page 61



- Economies of scale across provision which could lead to development of the 
services.

- Ensuring all legislative requirements across Adult’s and Children’s Services are met.

A revised specification will be developed to encompass feedback from key stakeholders, this 
will draw on the successes of the current model whilst ensuring identified opportunities for 
further development are realised.

27. Option 2: De-commission.  
This option is not recommended as the Council’s has statutory duties laid down in Figure 2 
under the Mental Health Act 1983, the Mental Health Act 2005 and the Care Act 2014. This 
option cannot be supported as the Council will be in breach of statutory responsibilities.

28. Option 3: Spot Purchasing of Advocacy Provision (Case by Case basis)

This option is not recommended as this would lead to:

- A sizeable administrative burden.
- Economies of scale would not be realised.  
- Provider and market stability may suffer. 
- This option may not be appealing to the market.
- Delay or lag in the allocation of the advocates may occur- this poses a significant 

risk in meeting our statutory obligations as providers do not prioritise spot 
purchasing above the needs of contractual arrangements they may have with other 
Local Authorities.

- Quality and availability of services across the county, across age groups and across 
people with different care needs may arise.

 Risks 

29. There are three main risks associated with these proposals:

- The Council is unable to meet its statutory responsibilities if the procurement 
process is unsuccessful.

- Any subsequent transition disrupts the service and/or subsequent provider under 
performance or insolvency.

- Services are unable to respond to rising levels of demand associated with new 
statutory duties (e.g., Mental Health White Paper, Liberty Protection Safeguards, 
and changes in private self-funders utilising GCC to arrange their care) 

Page 62



increased expectations relating to court rulings (e.g., mental capacity) or higher 
levels of activity (mental health assessments)

30. The risk of market failure should the procurement be unsuccessful is mitigated by 
market testing and research which suggests that the recommended service model will meet 
need and has successful met need and that the Council will be able to successfully procure 
the required services. 

31.The risk of disruption during the transition process will be mitigated by requiring all 
potential providers to provide robust evidence about their ability to mobilise the new 
contracts. Once the contracts are in place, robust quarterly performance monitoring and 
financial reporting will be used to mitigate any potential risks of critical underperformance or 
insolvency. The annual service reviews will include an assessment of the advocacy market. 

32. The Council will look to balance the risk of not meeting its statutory duties and uncertain 
demand with the need to be financially prudent and only pay for such services. 

Financial implications 

33. The current available budget for Adults’ Advocacy services is £737,000.00 (PA).

34. The estimated value is therefore £5,159,000.00 over the potential seven-year contract 
period excluding Liberty Protection Safeguards, or any changes arising from the Mental 
Health White Paper and potential demand from private ‘self-funders’ to evoke their rights to 
Advocacy. 

35. The value of the available budget for Children and Young People’s Advocacy is 
£110,000.00 (PA). The estimated value therefore amounts to a total of £770,000 over the 7 
years term. 

36. There is the potential that changes in legislation will increase demand for Adults Advocacy 
services and increase the costs of commissioning such services. Currently there would be 
insufficient budget available to cover any changing legislation and increased statutory 
responsibilities.  Guidance on the implementation of LPS was due for April 2022 and the 
Government have not yet provided a revised date. 

37. Pending legislative changes (which include the Mental Health White Paper, and Liberty 
Protection Safeguard’s the Government have not yet provided guidance for Local Authorities 
on these changes) hinders us in terms of forecasting additional need. Government have 
advised a delay in providing guidance due in April 2022.

38. We will submit an MTFS bid for 2023/24 to support the impact of the changing legislation 
across Adult Social Care.  The most up to date information available will be used to support 
the bid submission.  Any additional costs in 2022/23 will be managed through the Adult Social 
Care budget monitoring process. Should additional resources be required to support 
Children’s and Young People’s service, a variation of the contract may be requested in the 
future to no more than half of the current value of the children’s contract.

39. Project management and support resources will be provided from within existing support          
teams.

Page 63



    
40. To summarise, we seek approval to award a contract or contracts over a 7-year term (5 
years plus 2 years extension) for the following sums:

- £5,159,000.00 for Adult Advocacy Services over 7 years with a right to modify its 
provisions to allow an additional value of up to £7,738m in order to accommodate 
legislative changes.

- £770,000.00 For Children’s and Young Peoples Advocacy over 7 years
Additional authorisation will be sought should the need arise to increase the contract 
value as a result of legislative changes or increased demand.

   Climate change implications
  41.Carbon Emissions Implications? Neutral
         Vulnerable to climate change?  No 
Equality implications: 

  42. Has an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) been completed? Yes 

43. The provision of independent advocacy and related services contributes to advancing 
equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and people who 
do not share it, a Community Development Worker employed by the provider will work to 
support this as outlined in paragraph 14.The Equality and Impact Assessment (previously the 
Due Regard Statement) completed to inform the decisions for the current provision has been 
reviewed and updated to support the recommendations of this report. Current and future 
performance management arrangements will be used to ensure robust data is available and 
providers are committed to informing clients the reasons why we gather such data and use 
this data to meet the needs of all our residents.

44. Cabinet Members may read and consider the Equalities Impact Assessment to satisfy 
themselves as decision makers that due regard has been given.

 Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

45 Any DPIA implications associated with this project has been considered and identified in 
conjunction with colleagues from the Information Management Service (IMS) and included 
within the project risk register as appropriate.

46. A data protection impact assessment is legally required due to the sensitivity of the data 
being processed on a large scale over the course of the contracted term. We have 
completed the assessment with assistance from IMS and all risks are assessed as low.  
Mitigations have been agreed to manage all risks identified and can be managed as part of 
the service monitoring.

Page 64



 Social value implications 

47. Any newly awarded contract will contain a requirement for the provider to demonstrate 
social value in line with the contractual obligations of the Gloucestershire Advocacy 
Requirements, It will focus on employment opportunities, engagement with the local 
community and improving the lives and outcomes of individuals.

48. A question relating to social value will also be included as part of the tender 
questionnaire.

Consultation feedback 

49. A survey has been undertaken with users of the existing adults’ service.  It asked, “What 
works well regarding advocacy services in Gloucestershire that you have accessed in the last 
12 months?”.  Responses included:

- “Advocates allocated in a timely manner.  All advocates represent the people well 
and support them with ensuring their health and wellbeing, views and wishes are 
represented”

- “Giving individuals a voice to communicate what is most important to them in their 
assessment or in regard to their accommodation.”

- “Very helpful and caring staff, really trying to get the best for a client.

50. Engagement took place to seek internal and external stakeholder feedback and those 
who are Market Providers-this will inform the service specification for the contract. 
Feedback informed a need to raise awareness of our advocacy services and individual’s 
understanding of how to access these services amongst those within our community with 
protected characteristics, i.e., how we make services more accessible and the advocates 
that support individuals develop further skills in the area cultural competence.

51. Discussions were also held with organisations including the Gloucestershire Deaf 
Association, Adult Social Care and Gloucestershire Carers Hub to gather their views. 
A common theme arose for a need to expand services to incorporate some form of 
community advocacy and steps have been taken to incorporate this moving forward.

52. Children and Young People’s Services have accumulated feedback from the current 
provider, via independent review of a survey issued by their incumbent provider, quarterly 
reports and with their social workers who refer children and young people to the advocacy 
service.

53. Engagement with children and young people tells us that this small cohort of children 
and young people are happy with current provision. However more work needs to be done 
to ensure that children understand decisions made in their best interests. Children and 
Young Peoples Service engaged with the Young Ambassadors, and our commissioners 
reviewed Case studies conducted by our provider and Social Workers who refer children 
and young people to the service. This informed us of the following;

Page 65



- The feedback from children and young people is overall positive and reflects that 
they feel listened to, and that advocacy has had a positive impact on their lives.

- Children and Young people have said they feel-
‘Having an involvement of an advocate, has helped them feel listened to.

- Children and young people have also noted; support from an advocate, has had a 
positive impact on their emotional wellbeing.’

54. For those children and young people who were unhappy with decisions made for them 
as part of their Child Protection meeting, it was a result of the decision, rather than a 
reflection on the work achieved with their advocate. Therefore, we will work together to 
ensure that children understand the decisions that are made in their best interests and seek 
to continue to build strong relationships with our Advocates and Children’s Social Care 
Practitioners who are involved in the decision-making processes. 

55. Our social workers refer children and young people’s cases to our incumbent Advocacy 
Provider. We meet regularly with our Social Workers to identify how Advocacy Services are 
working for our children and young people. As part of this engagement, we identified a need 
to improve the systems and process for how we refer requests for advocacy for our children 
and young people to our Advocacy provider. 

56. Both the provider and our Children’s Social Care Team are now working together to 
embed better technology to improve how we refer requests to our provider and the manner 
in which we receive acknowledgements to confirm the appointments of such advocates. 
This pilot is now in place, and we hope it will improve speed of appointment of advocates 
and communications regarding such appointments.

57. Engagement List. 

We engaged with the following individuals, organisations and those who support recipients 
of Adults Advocacy Services;

- Providers (advocacy market providers)
- Adult Social Care.
- Individuals receiving support/carers including:
- ordinary residents
- care providers
- Age UK
- Carers Hub
- Gloucestershire Mental Health Services -#BlackLivesMatter’s Report 

Public.
- Young Ambassadors
- Children’s Services Social Workers (Refers)
- Young People via the providers Feedback

58. Additional Consultees:

- Operations Teams Adult Social Care.
- Council Strategic Procurement,
- Council Legal Services, 
- Council Strategic Finance,

Page 66



- Council Information Management Service,
- Cabinet Member 
- Commissioners of the Council and Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group
- Key staff involved in implementing the Liberty Protection Safeguards (LPS) legislation
- NHS and Council Complaints Managers
- Other local authorities
- Safeguarding team

    Officer recommendations 

59. Option 1: To recommission advocacy services through one procurement arrangement 
with two Lots 1-Adults and 2-Children and Young people’s advocacy services.

    Performance Management/Follow-up 
60. The contract(s) will be underpinned by robust contract monitoring in partnership with      
colleagues in health, social care operations, commissioning and safeguarding.

61. The Service provision requirements will be reviewed annually to assess changes   in 
need and available resources; this will include legislative duties, provider performance, and 
budget availability. The Council will have the option to terminate the contract in 
circumstances which make the contract untenable. 

62. There will be a common approach to the management of these contract(s) including a 
performance management workbook for providers to use as well as reporting on quality and 
outcomes achieved. Over and above this, there will be specific reporting requirements and 
provision for reviewing the quality of each service. Providers will be required to quality 
assure services by collecting regular customer feedback and service user experience

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TITLE: Gloucestershire’s Holiday Activity and Food Programme 

Cabinet Date 23rd February 2022 

Cabinet Member Councillor Stephen Davies Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding 
and Early Years 

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To seek Cabinet approval for the commissioning of the Holiday Activities 
and Food (HAF) programme.

Page 69

Agenda Item 9



Recommendations That Cabinet: 
1. Approves the allocation of £239,232 from the £1,594,880 received by the 

council from the Department for Education (“DfE”) pursuant to a Section 
31 Grant Determination for the Holiday Activities and Food Programme 
(HAF) 2022 -2023 (No: 31/5854) (referred to in these Recommendations 
as the “HAF 2022 -2023 Funding”) for the provision the Holiday Activity 
and Food Programme during the Easter School holiday period (11th – 
14th April 2022) as follows: 
1.1 £187,674 shall be apportioned between the six Gloucestershire 

districts based upon the number of children and young people who 
are eligible to receive Free School Meals (“FSM”) in the relevant 
district as set out in Annex One.  £36,230 from such sum shall be 
provided as grants to district lead organisations for the purpose of 
developing the delivery of the Holiday Activity and Food Programme 
in their district.  £151,444 shall be allocated to a grants pot that will 
be used by local public, private and voluntary sector organisations 
to deliver enriching activities and food to children and young people 
who are eligible to receive FSM. 

1.2 The remaining £51,558 shall be allocated to funding the delivery of 
the HAF programme during the Easter Holiday period 11th April to 
14th April 2022, by funding activities to meet the requirements of the 
programme and with a view to providing nutritional education, family 
support, tickets for local attractions, activity packs and other such 
items in line with the funding guidance from the DFE. 
The opportunity to receive such grants will be advertised and made 
available by way of an online grant application and due diligence 
process using the council’s online procurement system and local 
voluntary and public sector networks. 

2. Delegates authority to the Assistant Director for Integrated Children and 
Families Commissioning to award the grants and funding described in 
Recommendations 1.1 and 1.2 above.

3. Approves the allocation of £159,488 (i.e., 10% of the £1,594,880 HAF 
2022 -2023 Funding) to support the council’s administration costs in 
relation to the delivery of the Holiday Activity and Food Programme 
across Gloucestershire during the period 1st April 2022 to 31st March 
2023.

Page 70



4. Delegates Authority to Assistant Director for Integrated Children and 
Families Commissioning in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years to:

4.1  Conduct a competitive procurement process in respect of a multi-
supplier three year (2022 – 2025) Modified Framework Agreement 
under which public, voluntary and private sector organisations shall 
be engaged by the council (subject to receipt by it of additional DfE 
funding) to co-ordinate the council’s future HAF programmes, 
comprising the provision of holiday activities, food ; family support; 
nutritional education, and such other related deliverables as may be 
required during school holidays (referred to in these 
Recommendations as the “HAF Deliverables”). Such Modified 
Framework Agreement shall remain open throughout its term to 
enable further tenderers to be admitted to it on a rolling basis.

4.2   Appoint each of the council’s preferred tenderers to such Modified 
Framework Agreement. 

4.3   Allocate £988,368 from the £1,594,880 HAF 2022 -2023 Funding to 
fund the provision of the HAF Deliverables in line with DFE 
requirements during the period of the Summer 2022 school holidays 
(1st August to 26th August 2022) and Christmas 2022 school 
holidays (19th to 22nd December 2022).

4.4   Conduct mini-competition processes in respect of as many Call-Off 
Contracts under such Framework Agreement as may be required 
for the purpose of procuring HAF Deliverables described in 
Recommendation 4.3 and then award such Call-Off Contracts to the 
preferred tenderers.  If the value of any single proposed Call-Off 
Contract under such Framework Agreement exceeds £500,000, a 
separate Cabinet decision shall be required to authorise the 
procurement of such Call-Off Contract.

5      Allocate £207,791 from the £1,594,880 HAF 2022 – 2023 Funding to the 
delivery, in accordance with DFE of funding guidance, of the HAF 
programme in the financial year of 2022 - 2023 for the purpose of filling 
any gaps and shortfalls in delivery that may exist in relation to the HAF 
deliverables procured under Recommendations 4.3 and 4.4.

Page 71



Reasons for 
recommendations

1
These recommendations offer the best option to enable the Council to 
commission the Holiday Activity and Food Programme in Gloucestershire.  

They will ensure that the Easter 2022 HAF Programme is commissioned 
within tight timescales.

Provide the capacity for the management and administration of the HAF 
programme.

2
The creation of a modified framework will enable the commissioning of Six 
District Lead Organisations and provides the Council with the flexibility to 
secure a wide range of local providers, based in communities across 
Gloucestershire, ensuring that they meet the requirements of the HAF 
programme and other programmes.

They will provide the Council with the flexibility to commission activities to 
ensure that children and young people across Gloucestershire can access 
enriching, fun, high quality activities, nutritious food and meet the funding 
requirements of the Department for Education. 

Resource 
Implications

Grant funding of £1,594,880 (i.e., the HAF 2022 -2023 Funding) has been 
allocated by the Department of Education to the council to deliver the 
Holiday Activity and Food Programme during the period 1st April 2022 to 
31st March 2023. 
From this sum £239, 232 has been allocated to deliver the HAF programme 
during the Easter 2022 school holidays, of which £187,674 has been 
allocated based on the number of FSM children in each District and £51,558 
for funding additional activities to meet the requirements of the programme 
£988,368 HAF Programme funding is being allocated to the provision HAF 
programme deliverables under the Framework Agreement described in 
Recommendation 4 above during the Summer and Christmas Holidays. 
In line with DFE guidance, 10% of £1,594,880 (i.e., £159,488) has been 
allocated by the DfE to the Council to provide administrative support in 
relation to the HAF programme during the period 1st April 2022 to 31st 
March 2023.
£207,791 HAF Programme funding is being allocated to ensure the council 
has the flexibility to fill any gaps and shortfalls in delivery that may exist in 
relation to the HAF deliverables procured under the proposed Modified 
Framework Agreement during the 2022/23 financial year. 
Future allocations for the financial years, 2023/24 – 2024/25 will be notified 
to the Council by the Department for Education on an annual basis, by way 
of grant determinations regarding the Holiday Activity and Food 
Programme.

Page 72



Background 
Documents 1. Cabinet Decision 23rd June 2021  , 10 June 2021 - 24 June 2021, Cabinet 

(gloucestershire.gov.uk)
2. Directors Decision Report Holiday Activities and Food Programme (HAF) 

2021 – 2022 Contingency Allocation
3. DFE Grant Determination letter December 2021  Holiday activities and 

food programme - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
Statutory Authority Localism Act 2011 – General Power of Competence

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

All 

Officer Name:  Wendy Williams Assistant Director for Integrated Children and 
Families Commissioning
Tel. no: 01452 328526
Email: wendy.williams3@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Timeline 23rd February 2022 Cabinet Decision 
Online grant application process goes live 4th March 22 for Easter Provision
District Lead Organisations submit application for Easter Provision to meet 
DFE HAF requirements 11th March 22
Applications approved for Easter Provision by 19th March 2022
Easter HAF is delivered between 11th – 14th April 2022
Monitoring report to DFE by end of May 2022
Call for organisations – HAF Modified framework for summer provision in 
April – May 2022 
Contracts awarded May – June 2022 
Summer delivery 1st August to 26th August 2022 
Evaluation and reporting DFE September/October 2022 
Call for additional organisations to join HAF Modified framework – October 
2022 
Christmas Winter Delivery 19th to 22nd December 2022 
DFE Grant determination letter sets out allocation of funding 2023 – 
December 22/January 23 
Cabinet Report January 2023 
Call for additional organisations to join HAF Modified framework – Jan/Feb 
23 
HAF delivery 2023 as outlined in the Grant determination letter 
DFE Grant determination letter sets out the allocation of funding for 2024 in 
December 23/January 24 
Cabinet Report January 2024 

Page 73

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgDelegatedDecisions.aspx?&DR=10%2F06%2F2021-24%2F06%2F2021&RP=117&K=0&DM=117C&HD=0&DS=2&Next=true&META=mgdelegateddecisions&V=1
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgDelegatedDecisions.aspx?&DR=10%2F06%2F2021-24%2F06%2F2021&RP=117&K=0&DM=117C&HD=0&DS=2&Next=true&META=mgdelegateddecisions&V=1
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1805
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1805
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/holiday-activities-and-food-programme
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/holiday-activities-and-food-programme
mailto:wendy.williams3@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Call for additional organisations to join HAF Modified framework – Jan/Feb 
24 
A call for additional organisations to join the Modified framework to be run 
as required to fill gaps prior to HAF delivery during each year of the 
programme 

Page 74



Background 

1 The Government announced the expansion of the Holiday Activities and Food 
programme (HAF) in December 2020, for it to become a national programme from April 
2021 to support children and young people who are eligible for Free School Meals 
(FSM).

2 This new national programme consists of six weeks of services spread out over the 
main school holidays, (one week at Easter, four weeks during the summer and a final 
week during the Christmas school holidays). Each week consists of four days of 
activities, each lasting 4 hours, offering enriching activities, nutritional education, 
physical exercise as well as a healthy meal and sign posting families to other services. 

3 The continuation of the programme for a further three years was announced in the 
Comprehensive Spending Review October 2021, and the Council received the grant 
determination letter in December 2021 confirming the allocation of £1,594,880 for 
delivery of the HAF during 2022- 2023.

Gloucestershire Holiday Activity and Food Programme 2021 

4 During 2021, Gloucestershire County Council working with District Lead Organisations 
and local providers successfully delivered the Holiday Activities and Food programme 
(HAF), utilising the £1,546,870 (and contingency funding) allocated to the county by the 
Department for Education.

5 The HAF programme in Gloucestershire, during 2021, reduced holiday loneliness, 
hunger, and the loss of education. With over 140 activity providers, the programme 
enabled, children and young people, to keep active and engaged and have access to 
healthy food, during the school holidays.  The programme reached, 37% of children and 
young people eligible for Free School Meals at Easter, 57% in the summer school 
holidays and 49% during the winter school holidays.  

6 Following Cabinet Member decision, the HAF team, worked with 17 local delivery 
partners to co-produce a County Wide HAF offer, which was mostly virtual due to 
Covid-19 restrictions for the Easter holidays during 6th – 9th April 2021.  

7 During the Easter provision, 3,044 parents/carers with 6,009 children and young people 
(37%) of those registered for FSM, signed up to receive a Home Cooking Kit.  562 
parents completed the evaluation survey with 88% rated the quality of the Home 
Cooking Kits as either Excellent (57%) or Good (31%).

8 During the Easter Pilot, 314 Children and young people accessed Covid-19 secure face 
to face activities in Communities across the County and 766 unique visits were made to 
the new HAF webpages on the County Council website. 

9 Embracing the experiences and learning from the Easter 2021 pilot, a report outlining 
the approach for the remainder of the HAF grant for the Summer and Christmas 
holidays was approved by Cabinet in June 21.and the Council worked with the following 

Page 75



District Lead Organisations in each of the six Districts to develop and deliver the 
programme:

District District Lead 
Cheltenham Cheltenham Borough Council
Cotswolds Cotswolds District Council and World 

Jungle
Forest of Dean Forest Voluntary Action Forum 
Gloucester City The Gateway Trust, The Venture White 

City and Gloucester City Council
Stroud Stroud District Council 
Tewkesbury Young Gloucestershire 

10 The District Leads worked with local providers to develop their delivery proposals, 
completing an expression of interest detailing how these would meet the requirements 
of the HAF programme. 

11 All providers completed application form and completed due diligence process 
overseen by the GCC HAF Team, who also commissioned providers to fill gaps and to 
deliver activities on a countywide basis, for example Play Gloucestershire and 
Bloodhound, other activities and food, also ensuring that barriers like transport in rural 
areas were overcome.

12 A virtual offer was available on the new HAF webpages on the council website, 
including a wide range of age-appropriate on-line activities.

13 Gloucestershire’s Summer Holiday Activity and Food programme was a great success, 
reaching 57% of children and young people eligible for Free Schools Meals.

 144 providers
 18,500 activity sessions
 18,581 meals
 3622 food boxes 
 773 children and young people with Special Educational Needs or Disabilities 
 16 days provision during the summer: Primary school aged attended on 

average 6 days and secondary school aged children attended on average 1 
day

14 In recognition of Gloucestershire’s reach to children and young people eligible for FSM 
and their families across the County, the Council was invited to provide a presentation 
to the national network of HAF local authorities leads in November 2021 outlining our 
approach to successfully delivering the programme.

15 Building on the learning from the summer, an online application and due diligence 
process was implemented for providers to complete, for Christmas, alongside an 
expression of interest and application form from each District lead which set out how 
their provision would meet DFE requirements.  

Page 76



16 The Christmas HAF provision was delivered between 20th – 23rd December 2021.  The 
monitoring report produced for the DFE and submitted at the end of January 2022 
identified that 49% of children and young people eligible for FSM in the county 
accessed the provision during the Christmas.

17 Working with District Lead Organisations and local providers has been key to success 
of the HAF in Gloucestershire, as these organisations are based in local communities 
often already working with vulnerable children and families.  

18 Throughout 2021 the Council worked with district leads and local providers to develop a 
suite of communications to engage families effectively, including dedicated county wide 
and locality specific web content, video library, regular digital newsletters, social media 
and direct communication through schools.

19 Over the first year the Council’s HAF team, has evaluated the programme with District 
Leads, Local providers and parents and children and young people using the learning 
and best practice to enhance the programme. The HAF 2021 – 2022 project overview is 
attached in annex two.

20 This report sets out the proposed approach to deliver the HAF programme in 2022-
2023 and beyond subject to future funding being available.

Options

Option 1: Do nothing – do not run the Holiday Activity and Food Programme in 2022 - 2023 

21 The County has been allocated the funding by the Department for Education for 2022 - 
2023 and had considerable success in delivering the programme in 2021, working with 
six District lead organisations and over 140 mainly local providers.  The programme 
enabled, children and young people to keep active and engaged and have access to 
healthy food, during the school holidays.  The programme reached, 37% of children and 
young people eligible for Free School Meals at Easter, 57% during the summer school 
holidays and 49% during the winter school holidays.  To do nothing would leave 
vulnerable children and families without access to enriching activities, physical 
exercise, and healthy food during the school holidays.

22 Funding will be returned to the Department of Education as it is ring fenced for the 
delivery of the HAF programme only. 

23 This option is not recommended. 

Option 2: To undertake a procurement process to secure a lead provider for the delivery of 
Holiday Activity and Food Programme in Gloucestershire.

24 Although the announcement in the Comprehensive spending review was for the 
continuation of the Holiday Activity and Food programme for a further three years, the 
programme’s funding will be allocated to the Council on annual basis.  Given the 
timeframe for the grant award and the demands of a full procurement exercise It would 

Page 77



be too resource intensive for both the Council, district partners and providers to 
undertake a full procurement exercise each year. Therefore, it is not viable to run a 
large-scale procurement exercise for delivery of activities for the summer and 
Christmas holiday periods in 2022 – 2023 and each of the following years of the 
programme.

25 This option is not recommended 

Option 3: To continue delivering the programme through an Expression of Interest and Grants 
programme and allocates 10% of the budget to cover the administration of the programme. 

26 This approach was used to develop and deliver the HAF programme in Gloucestershire 
during 2021, as approved by Cabinet 23rd June 2021.  Whilst successful in achieving 
the programme aims, this process was limiting for organisations as they had to apply 
again for delivery for each holiday. Going forward this could mean applying up to three 
times a year. For commissioners this approach limited flexibility, for example if 
providers were unable to deliver or if provision needed to be expanded/developed at 
pace. The Council has therefore used the learning from the approach to develop the 
preferred option and to ensure continuity of provision for FSM children and young 
people and their families across the county.

27 This option is not recommended.

Option 4:  To allocate grants to six District lead organisations and local providers for Easter 
2022; establish a modified framework for commissioning of the Holiday Activity and Food 
Programme in Gloucestershire summer 2022 onwards and award call-off contracts 
thereunder; to allocate funding to meet the requirements of the HAF programme; and allocate 
10% of the budget to cover the administration of the programme.

28 This is the best option to enable the Council to commission the Holiday Activity and 
Food Programme in Gloucestershire and meet DFE requirements. There are three 
main areas to the proposal 

 Ensuring that the Easter 2022 HAF Programme is commissioned within tight 
timescales.  

 Creates a three-year modified framework enabling the commissioning of HAF 
related activities from six district lead organisations and which also provides 
the Council with the flexibility to secure the participation of a wide range of 
local providers, based in communities across Gloucestershire, ensuring that 
they meet the requirements of the HAF programme.

 Ensures the Council has the flexibility to fund activities to the meet the 
requirements of the HAF programme.

29 This approach will allow the council to develop a suitable platform using the modified 
framework to “call-off” HAF related activities for the lifetime of the HAF programme as 
detailed within the spending review 

30 Providers will submit their applications for the modified framework just once for the 
whole three-year programme, rather than the current grant model where providers 
submitted for each holiday period, which for some is three applications each year. Due 

Page 78



Diligence will be undertaken on annual basis or as required for example to ensure that 
insurances or DBS checks are current and up to date.

31 The framework will be modified therefore allowing new providers to join over the period 
throughout its existence.

32 This approach meets both the immediate and long term needs to deliver the HAF 
Programme therefore this is option is recommended.

Risks

33 There is a risk in respect of any grant award that it may contravene subsidy control 
regime requirements hence, for the purpose of mitigating such risk, the council has 
satisfied itself that: (a) The proposed grants are for small sums that will be given to truly 
local organisations only, hence they are unlikely to affect international trade and will 
therefore fall outside the scope of the subsidy control regime; (b) the proposed grants 
will not result in more than £332,000 being given to any single beneficiary over three 
years, hence they are outside the scope of the subsidy control regime; and  (c) the 
proposed grants are payable on an unconditional basis and hence will not to meet the 
definition of a contract that would need to be procured in compliance with the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015.  Moreover, the council has carried out an application 
process for those wishing to deliver activities in the summer 2021 and at Christmas 
2021, and which will be run again for the Easter provision in 2022 prior to the 
introduction of the Framework.

34 There is a risk in possible lack of interest in taking part in the process to secure a lead 
organisation in each district.  This is mitigated by the work during the 2021 delivery of 
the programme, the GCC HAF team has worked effectively with the current six District 
Lead Organisations.  An evaluation of the first year of delivery, as part of the 
consultation phase, with District Leads, included what worked and what has been more 
challenging has helped to establish the key characteristics and requirements of District 
lead organisations in the future. 

35 There is a risk that providers will not want to participate in the Gloucestershire HAF 
modified Framework. Raising awareness of the process through providers meetings to 
be held in February and that training and support will be provided will help to mitigate 
this risk.  There was some concern about meeting the Due Diligence requirements of 
the Framework, mitigated in part through training offered to all providers in 2021 and 
future training as part of the requirements of the framework.  Further mitigations in 
include reassurance that the approach offers the opportunity for providers to apply 
again once they meet the required standards as opposed to a procurement exercise for 
a longer contract where Due Diligence is pass / fail.  Colleagues from procurement will 
offer support and guidance at the events and once a provider is approved this is a long-
standing arrangement rather than an annual exercise. 

Financial implications

36 The grant funding £1,594,880 for the HAF delivery in 2022 - 2023 has been ringed 
fenced by the Department for Education and allocated to the Council as set out in the 

Page 79



SECTION 31 Grant determination letter for the Holiday Activities and Food Programme 
(HAF) 2022 -2023 (No: 31/5854).

Climate change implications

37 Throughout the commissioning process consideration will be given as to the impact of 
the provision and to the considerations that need to be undertaken regarding the 
provision being affected by climate change.

38 The DFE has provided guidance for local authorities regarding reducing the 
environmental impact of the programme, for example reducing plastic and food waste 
during the delivery of the programme, which will be used to support the commissioning 
of the programme.

Equality implications

39 Has an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) been completed? Yes 

40 The Equalities Impact Assessment originally produced to support the Cabinet decision 
in June 2021 has been updated.  Alongside the protected characteristics of age, gender 
and disability of the children and young people participating in the programme, in 
December the CRM system was updated to enable the collection of non-mandatory 
ethnicity to be collected. 

41 For future provision, and as part of the renewed DPIA, the protected characteristics 
age, gender, disability, and race, although these will continue to be non-mandatory 
requirements, parents and carers who register will be encouraged to complete all 
sections.  This will enable the Council to track the reach of the programme to a wider 
range of children and young people across the county, supporting our strategic 
planning for the programme going forwards with a further two years of funding.   

42 District Lead Organisations and provider’s performance will be assessed against their 
ability to ensure that the provision across the district is accessible to the widest range of 
children and young people as possible and is reflecting the diversity of communities in 
the wider County.

43 Extensive work was undertaking during 2021 with local providers to support them to 
make small adjustments to ensure that children and young people with Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) were able to access provision, through the 
commissioning of training and advice from Active Impact and the provision of 60 
sensory tents available to providers across the County. 

44 The expectation is that the SEND work continues, with feedback from parents and 
young people tracking continual improvement in accessibility of activities.  The HAF 
team also intends to work closely with Commissioning colleagues within the Hub, to 
ensure that the HAF and short breaks for Disabled children provision maximising the 
availability of school holiday provision for Disabled children and their families.

Page 80



45 Cabinet Members should read and consider the Equalities Impact Assessment in order 
to satisfy themselves as decision makers that due regard has been given.

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

46 A DPIA has been created for the CRM Database and work is underway with IMS to 
address risks to personal data. Privacy notices have been completed for both the 
database and website

Social value implications

47  Provision of Holiday Activities and Food, for children and young people eligible for Free 
Schools meals, increases the opportunities to be active, access nutritious food, and 
enriching activities, increasing wellbeing and quality of life.

48 The modified framework tender process will invite providers to include how they would 
deliver increased social value as part of their bid submission.

Consultation feedback

49 No formal public consultation has been completed; however, feedback has been sought 
from parents and carers following the Easter, Summer, and Christmas delivery of the 
programme.  District lead organisations and providers have also completed feedback 
alongside children and young people who have attended the programme.  This has 
been used to shape the development and delivery of the programme and annex two 
contains the HAF 2021 Gloucestershire Evaluation report summary.

Officer recommendations

50 That the Cabinet approves Option Four as set out in the recommendations to this 
report.

Performance management/follow-up 

51 The Gloucestershire HAF project will be accountable to the Assistant Director for 
Integrated Children and Families Commissioning. Expenditure against the grant will be 
monitored and reported to a Steering Group that will meet quarterly to review provision, 
identify approaches to fill gaps in provision and ensure that the programme dovetails 
with other initiatives for children and families in the county. 

52 The DFE has issued new guidance, including further information to support local 
authority ensure that the provision meets the framework standards, and the council will 
continue to ensure that provision commissioned is of high quality, embeds safeguarding 
good practise and ensures that the voices of children and young people are listened to 
and shaping provision for the future.

53  Required monitoring and evaluation reports and Statement of Expenditure will be 
provided in line with Department for Education requirements

Page 81



Annex One 

District Allocation 
Easter based on % of 
FSM children Total Easter 

Allocation per 
District 

Developing delivery 
of the programme – 
District Lead 

District Lead 
Organisation 

Cheltenham 17% £31,904.52 £5,424
Cheltenham Borough 
council 

Gloucester 30% £56,302.10 £16,891
The Venture White 
City 

Cotswold 9.5% £17,829.00 £2,050.
Cotswolds District 
council 

Tewkesbury 14% £26,274.31 £3,678. Young Gloucestershire 
Stroud 15.5% £29,089.42 £4,509 Stroud District Council 

Forest of Dean 14% £26,274.31 £3,678
Forest Voluntary 
Action Forum 

Page 82



Annex Two 
HAF 2021 – 2022 Project Overview 

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Financial Montoring Report 2021/22
	6 The recommissioning of Children and Family Centres as the starting point for the development of Family Hubs across Gloucestershire for children aged 0-19 years (up to 25 years where children have special educational needs or disabilities).
	7 Local Welfare Provision 2022-2024 Contract Extension
	8 Health and Social Care Independent Advocacy Services for Adults, Children and Young People
	9 Gloucestershire’s Holiday Activity and Food Programme

